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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
"STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors
should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the decision to invest only
after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded
on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
report, make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any

loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “"Group” or “"We") collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in
compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete
in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would

make any statement herein or this report misleading.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of Boltek Holdings Limited for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year").

OVERVIEW

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands on 18 April 2018. The address of registered
office is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350,
Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at 5/F, Winning Commercial
Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong
Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group
is principally engaged in provision of engineering consultancy

services in Hong Kong.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin Investment”), a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"). The
ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr. Cheung Kwan
Tar (“Mr. Cheung” or “Controlling Shareholder”).

The COVID-19 pandemic which began in early 2020 has adversely
impact the construction industry in the past few years, which
affected the negotiation of new projects and delayed the progress
of existing projects of the Group. In the past few years, the Group
has used its best endeavor to secure the existing projects and
services rendered, to maintain stable operation and to mitigate
the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. With the Hong Kong
Government lifted all COVID-19 restriction in early 2023, the
economic activities and our operation has gradually return to

normal.

The Group has actively negotiated and secured new projects
and tenders to enhance its business performance, and looking
for appropriate investment opportunities to strengthen the
core business of the Group. Furthermore, the Group will focus
on executing its business strategies and utilize its competitive

strengths.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EEHRE

For the Year, the Group recorded a total revenue of approximately
HK$170.4 million, representing an increase of approximately
14.1% as compared to approximately HK$149.3 million for the year
ended 31 December 2022. For the Year, the Group recorded profit
attributable to equity holders of the Company of approximately
HK$28.2 million as compared to approximately HK$18.5 million
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Directors are of the
view that the increase of profit attributable to equity holders of
the Company was mainly due to the increase in project awarded
and enhancement of productivity due to lifting of all COVID-19
restriction by Hong Kong Government in early 2023.

PROSPECT

In view of the strong demand in the infrastructure development
market and the economic activities returning to normal after three
years of pandemic, infrastructure developers are more actively

launching new projects with aggressive financing schemes.

There has been an increasing number of project quotation
invitations received by the Group from potential and current
customers, and the Group has utilised the net proceeds from the
Listing to expand the Group's service capacity. The Group will
continue to improve our operation efficiency and profitability of our
business and expand our team of professionals, which will enhance
the basis of our technical capability to bid for future projects.
The Group will also proactively seek opportunities to expand
our customer base and our market share and undertake more
building projects which will enhance value to our shareholders and

stakeholders.

Based on the Group's accumulated expertise and experiences
in the industry, the Directors are cautiously optimistic about the

Group's business outlook.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERERE

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, let me take this opportunity to extend
our heartfelt gratitude to our shareholders, business partners,
customers, and employees for your continuous support and
contribution to the Group. We are committed to delivering value

and bringing returns to all our stakeholders.

Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (R & Z) (“Mr. Cheung”), aged 62, is an
executive Director of our Company. He was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and re-designated as an executive Director, and
appointed as the chief executive officer of our Company and
the chairman of our Board on 20 August 2018. Mr. Cheung is a
member of the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) of our Company and chairman of the nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) of our Company. Since
September 2006, Mr. Cheung has been a director of Mannings (Asia)
Consultants Limited (“Mannings”).

Mr. Cheung is the spouse of Ms. Chiu Chui Ping, the chief
administrative officer of the Company. Mr. Cheung is also the sole
director of both Waywin Investment Holding Limited, a substantial

shareholder of the Company, and Richness Universal Limited.

Mr. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) from
Queen Mary College, University of London in the United Kingdom
in August 1983. Over the years, Mr. Cheung has obtained various
professional qualifications and memberships including the

following:

Professional qualifications

HITES

REEAE(REE]D 258 BRARAMITE
E-BR-_ZE-\FEAT/\BEZRESESY
RZZE-NFNANAZ+TERERRITEZTNER
ERARAITHRAEHNESTSIRE - RELEME
ARRFHMNEE S ((HFMEEE ) KERART
RAZES((RBEEG)IRF -8 _TTRHF
NARE  RELBREEMNGC (N BRERAT]
(B8Rt WES -

RAEEBRNRRITHREEERYF L THRME - R
HENBEREEERER AR (KARAEERk
) K Richness Universal Limited FU M — & = o

REER—NAN=ZF ARG RERBCKNZIHH]
ERERES(IRE)BLEM - RNBEEF
REACDMGEZHEELEERLRGE  BEATSE
17 :

Dates of admission or appointment

EEXER AEBREEAH
Fellow of the Institution of Civil Engineers 26 September 2016
TATITEMBEEREE “E-RFAAZ+TRAE
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers 8 May 2013
BETIIRMPEEREER —E-=FRANR
Fellow and Chartered Structural Engineer of the Institution of 6 October 2016

Structural Engineers
ERITIEMPEEREE MEFTEBIIZM
Fellow of the Hong Kong Institution of Highways and Transportation
BENKEBRERGE

—E-RF+ANH
9 June 2000
—EEEFANA
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Mr. Ng Pak Hung (R #878), aged 49, was appointed as a Director
on 18 April 2018 and redesignated as an executive Director on 20
August 2018. Before joining our Group, Mr. Ng has had extensive
work experience in managing various kinds of infrastructural
projects. Since August 2006, he has been an operations director of
Mannings. He was appointed as a professional assessment assessor

of the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers since 2011.

Mr. Ng obtained a Bachelor of Engineering (Hons) in Civil and
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology in November 1996. In November 2002, he obtained
a Master of Arts in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution (equivalent
to a Master of Laws in Arbitration and Dispute Resolution) from the
City University of Hong Kong. Over the years, Mr. Ng has obtained
various professional qualification and memberships, including the

following:

Professional qualifications

REBEE 9F R-E-/\FOUA+/\BE
ZEREFIR T N\FNA-THHAESH
TEF - RMAREER  REENEESEE
RREEETEEFLEENTEER -B-FF
NENAE  BRABINEMEEXE KA-F
——FREZERBEILRMBGHERITES -

REEAR-NANARF+—ARGEBMEKREL
AREBIR(RB)BLEBN -R_TT_F
T—A FRBEBEMASMRENRFHERE
T2 (HERPRLRFRBRBEBEL S
i) BERF RELCHBEZHEXERK
SR BEATSE:

Dates of admission or appointment

HEER AEBREEAH
Accredited NEC3 and NEC4: ECC Project Manager 27 January 2016
A NEC3 M2 NEC4 : ECCIR R #1312 —E-RF-AZ+tH
Registered Professional Engineer (Civil/Structural), 30 August 2002

Engineers Registration Board

Ti2RREMER BEMEX TR (LA 4H)

Member of The Chartered Institute of Arbitrators

RFFfrREZee 8

Member of The Institution of Structural Engineers

rEIEMmEees

Chartered Engineer of the Engineering Council, United Kingdom

R TIEEE SR IIZA

Fellow Member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers

BEIRMPEEREE

Chartered Civil Engineer and Fellow Member of The Institution of
Civil Engineers

FHALAIREMEEIATRMSGERSE

Senior Engineer (Highway), Professional Title in Guangdong
Province, Guangdong Provincial Department of Human
Resources and Social Security

ESMRTIZA (RE)  BREBME BEREANERA
HaRER
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (PR #1 #R), aged 73, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, member of the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”) of our Company and member
of the Nomination Committee. He is primarily responsible for

providing independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam obtained a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering from University of Hong Kong in November 1973 and
a Master of Business Administration from the Chinese University
of Hong Kong in December 1983. He was admitted as fellow of
the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers in May 2011, fellow of the
Chartered Institute of Arbitrators in June 2019 and certified new
engineering contract professional of the Chartered Institution of

Civil Engineering Surveyors in January 2023.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (BR B #R), aged 68, was appointed
as our independent non-executive Director on 20 August 2018. He
is a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee. He is primarily responsible for providing

independent judgement to our Board.

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion was admitted as a solicitor of the
Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1984 and has been a
partner of C.L. Chow & Macksion Chan, a law firm based in Hong
Kong, since 2001. He is a China Appointed Attesting Officer
appointed by the Ministry of Justice of China.

Since February 2013, Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion has been a non-
executive director of Oi Wah Pawnshop Credit Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1319).

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion graduated with a Bachelor of Arts in
Pure Mathematics from the University of Calgary, Canada in June
1978.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (B & ¥), aged 39, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director on 9 September 2021. She is
the chairlady of the Audit Committee. She is primarily responsible
for providing independent judgement to our Board. Ms. Chik
obtained a master of corporate governance degree from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in September 2015. She was
admitted as a member of CPA Australia in June 2011. Ms. Chik was
also certified as a certified public accountant by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants in September 2011, and
was admitted as an associate of both The Hong Kong Chartered
Governance Institute (formerly known as The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries) and The Chartered Governance Institute
(formerly known as the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators) in March 2016.

Ms. Chik Wai Chun has over 10 years of auditing, accounting,
corporate governance and company secretarial experience. She is
currently served as the company secretary at P.B. Group Limited,
a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8331), the
head of company secretarial department of P.B. Advisory Limited
and consultant of the company secretarial department at Trinity
Corporate Solutions Limited. Since July 2023, Ms. Chik Wai Chun
has been appointed as Company secretary of FingerTango Inc., a
company listed on Stock Exchange (stock code: 6860).

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Shek Man Wah (A X %), aged 57, is the chief operating
officer of our Company and is responsible for overseeing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group. In
May 2006, he joined Mannings as an associate. Since June 2006, he
has been an operations director of Mannings.

Mr. Shek obtained a Bachelor of Applied Science in Civil
Engineering from the University of British Columbia, Canada in May
1991 and was elected as a member of the Chartered Institution of
Highways and Transportation in April 2001. He obtained a Master
of Business Administration jointly awarded by the University of New
South Wales and the University of Sydney in Australia in June 2002.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGHREEE

Ms. Chiu Chui Ping (i 2 3%
officer of our Company. Ms. Chiu is responsible for the overseeing

), aged 55, is the chief administrative

the human resources and administrative functions of our Group.
Since October 2005, she has been a director of Mannings.

Ms. Chiu obtained a Postgraduate Diploma in Business
Administration in March 2004 and a Master of Business
Administration in November 2005, both from the University of
Wales, Newport, United Kingdom and through long distance
learning courses.

Mr. So William (& {2 B8), aged 52, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing
the execution and completion of projects undertaken by our
Group. Since September 2006 (subject to a period of absence
from November 2008 to January 2009), he has been working for
Mannings, first as a senior engineer and then promoted as a
divisional director in April 2014.

Mr. So was admitted as member of the Institution of Highways
and Transportation in April 1998, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council, United Kingdom in December 2002 and as
member of the Institution of Civil Engineers in July 2005. Mr. So
graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering degree from Middlesex
University in the United Kingdom in July 1993.

Mr. Lam Chi Chiu (#&#), aged 54, is a senior project manager
of our Company. He is primarily responsible for managing the
execution and completion of projects undertaken by our Group.
Since September 2016, Mr. Lam has been a divisional director of
Mannings.

Mr. Lam was admitted as member of the Institution of Civil
Engineers in December 1996, as chartered engineer of the
Engineering Council on July 1997, as member of the Hong Kong
Institution of Engineers in July 1997, and as member of the
Institution of Structural Engineers in October 1997. He was certified
as registered professional engineer in Hong Kong by Engineers
Registration Board from July 2013 to June 2014.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

ESENGHREEE

Mr. Lam graduated with a Bachelor of Engineering from the
University of Hong Kong in December 1992. He also obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of London in the
United Kingdom in August 2007.

Mr. Yu Chun Kit (R #), aged 34, is the financial controller
and company secretary of our Company. Mr. Yu joined our Group
in January 2018 as the financial controller of Mannings and was
appointed as our company secretary in April 2018. He is responsible
for the overall financial management of our Group. Mr. Yu obtained
a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) in Accounting &
Finance from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October
2011. He was admitted as a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in July 2015.

Since September 2019, Mr. Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as
company secretary of Global Uin Intelligence Holdings Limited
(formerly known as Global Dining Holdings Limited), a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8496). Since April 2022,
Mr. Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as independent non-executive
Director of Sinohope Technology Holdings Limited (formerly known
as New Huo Technology Holdings Limited), a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1611). Since March 2024, Mr.
Yu Chun Kit has been appointed as independent non-executive
Directors of WK Group (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on
Stock Exchange (stock code: 2535).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWED

BUSINESS REVIEW

We are an engineering consultant in Hong Kong with a focus on
the field of infrastructure developments. We have accumulated
our expertise in different branches of engineering, covering (i) civil
engineering mainly comprising road and structural engineering
as well as geotechnical engineering; (ii) traffic engineering; (iii)
building engineering; and (iv) landscape architecture..

For the Year, the Group recorded a profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$28.2 million as
compared to the year ended 31 December 2022 during which
the Group recorded a profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company of approximately HK$18.5 million. The Directors are
of the view that the increase was primarily due to the increase in
project awarded and enhancement of productivity due to the lifting
of all COVID-19 restriction by the Hong Kong Government in early
2023.

OUTLOOK

The Group always strives to improve our operation efficiency and
profitability of our business. The Group will also proactively seek
opportunities to expand our customer base and our market share
and undertake more projects which will enhance value to our
shareholders.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

Our revenue increased to approximately HK$170.4 million
for the Year by approximately HK$21.1 million or 14.1%, from
approximately HK$149.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. This was principally due to an increase in projects awarded
during the Year and enhancement of productivity due to the lifting
of all COVID-19 restriction by the Hong Kong Government in early
2023.

Cost of services

Our cost of service mainly comprises staff cost of technical staffs
and subconsultancy fees. During the Year, the cost of services
amounted to approximately HK$110.1 million, which remain stable
comparing to the financial year ended 31 December 2022.

X¥BERE
AEEA—MBEBIRRENAR  HINERSD
MEREED AEEEREERTEIESZFEM
HoORENEIAIR (FEREERRAERIRE
UNETTE)  ()BIR: (VEFIRE: Kiv)
SEEE-

RAEE AEESEESARAEEFTE AR
EAH282ABEL  MBE_T=-__+=A4
=+—HIEFE  AEEHSAQRERFEA
EREFILI18SEEBT -EFERA &L ME
ZHRERBEENETABNR _-_T =54
R BR COVID-19 I FT A IR il M 12 = AE B JI AT o

RI=
$%l—ﬁﬂﬁfﬁﬁﬁ¥%mﬁiﬁwﬁﬁﬂ

B AEENFEGSKEEABEREMOE
ﬁ%%&m%h%m%&%yﬁﬁ It 2R S 1R A
fRER(EE o

Bt %% B B

W &=

Rz EEE -~ +-HA=+—8
IEFEHNIOIFEESTEMO211EE BT
141%ZERFEN17048EBT - WIHEERR
REFERIBEEEMAREAEEBRTR =T ==
FYERBR COVID-19H P A R $I i 12 = £ & S P
g(o

PR 7 B 4%
BMORBRAEZELERMAENEIAAR
BB NAFE  RBKANA101EEET -
HEE T F+ A=+ LM BEEMAL
RIFIEE ©

Annual Report 3 2023 15




k } Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Gross profit

During the Year, our Group’s gross profit increased to
approximately HK$60.4 million by approximately HK$17.8 million
or 41.7%, from approximately HK$42.6 million for the year ended
31 December 2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in
projects awarded and enhancement of productivity as Hong Kong
Government lifted all COVID-19 restriction in early 2023.

Other income

Other income decreased by approximately HK$2.2 million or 36.1%
from approximately HK$6.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2022 to approximately HK$3.9 million for the Year. The decrease
was due to the absent of the government subsidies in respect of
COVID-19 in relation to the Employment Support Scheme provided
by the Hong Kong Government, which amounted approximately
HK$4.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Bargain purchase from business combination

On 11 August 2023, the Group has acquired Team 73 HK Limited
("Team 73"), a landscape architecture company incorporated
in Hong Kong with limited liabilities, at a cash consideration
of HK$3,524,000. Team 73 was acquired so as to continue the
expansion of the Group's operations. For further detail please refer

to Note 30 of “The notes to the consolidated financial statements”.

Administrative expenses (including provision of expected
credit loss allowance)

Our administrative expenses (including provision of expected
credit loss allowance) increased to approximately HK$32.3 million
for the Year, by approximately HK$5.0 million or 18.3%, from
approximately HK$27.3 million for the year ended 31 December
2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in staff benefit
for the Year after the easing of COVID-19 restriction by the Hong
Kong Government in early 2023.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense increased by approximately HK$1.9 million
or 67.9% from approximately HK$2.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2022 to approximately HK$4.7 million for the Year, the
increase was mainly due to the increase in taxable profit for the

Year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWE DT

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the following will be taken into account, inter alia:
(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(iii) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v) the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association (the “Articles”) of
the Company. The dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed
by the Board from time to time and there can be no assurance that

a dividend will be proposed or declared in any specific periods.

DIVIDEND

After taking into account the dividend policy of the Company
summarised above, the Board does not recommend the payment
of final dividend for the Year (2022: nil).

Together with the interim dividend of HK$0.08125 per ordinary
share paid to the Shareholder on 18 September 2023, the total cash
dividend for the Year will be HK$0.08125 (2022: nil) per ordinary

share.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group financed our operations primarily through cash

generated from our operating activities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EIEEImE

gl

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES (continued)

Cash and bank balances and time deposits

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's cash and bank balances and
short-term time deposits amounted to approximately HK$67.5
million (2022: HK$136.0 million).

Net current assets
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had net current assets of
approximately HK$146.4 million (2022: HK$186.0 million).

Total equity

The equity of the Group mainly comprises share capital, share
premium and reserves. The Group's total equity attributable to
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately HK$153.1 million (2022: HK$189.9 million).

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

There has been no change in the capital structure of the Group

during the Year and up to the date of this report.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a conservative approach towards its
treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity position
throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure to credit
risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of
the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure that
the liquidity structure of the Group's assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any contingent
liabilities (2022: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, including our Directors and resident site
staff, the Group had a total of 455 employees (2022: 349).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EREWE DT

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY
(continued)

We recognise employees as valuable assets and our success is
underpinned by our people. In line with our human resource
policies, we are committed to providing attractive remuneration
packages, and a fair and harmonious working environment to
safeguard the legitimate rights and interests of our employees.
The Group regularly reviews our human resource policies which
outline the Group’s compensation, working hours, rest periods
and other benefits and welfare, to ensure compliance with laws
and regulations. We always place emphasis on attracting qualified
applicants by offering competitive remuneration packages. These
packages are reviewed based on employees’ performance and
reference to prevailing market conditions, and are adjusted in a

timely manner to keep them in line with market benchmarking.

In addition, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option
scheme, (the "Share Option Scheme”) on 20 August 2018 so as to
motivate, attract and retain the right employees.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES,
ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

Except as disclosed herein, the Group did not have any significant
investments during the Year and did not have any material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiary, associates or joint ventures

during the Year.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT

Capital management

Our Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balance.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure from
time to time. As a part of this review, the management considers
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of

capital.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEWED

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL
RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Gearing ratio
Gearing ratio is calculated as total borrowings (including payables
incurred not in our ordinary course of business) divided by the total

equity as at the respective reporting dates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's gearing ratio was nil (2022:

nil).

Foreign exchange exposure

All of the Group's assets, liabilities and transactions are mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Directors do not consider
that the Group is exposed to any material foreign currency
exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging devices or any alternatives

have been implemented.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Set out below are the significant events taking place during the

Year.

On 17 January 2023, Waywin Investment, the controlling
shareholder of the Company wholly-owner by Mr. Cheung, has
acquired 57,600,000 shares of the Company at a consideration of
HK$5,000,000 through an off-market transaction (the "Acquisition
1"), upon completion of the Acquisition 1, Waywin Investment and
Mr. Cheung were together interested in 483,600,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 60.45% of the issued share
capital of the Company. For further details, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 17 January 2023.

On 30 March 2023, Waywin Investment, the controlling
shareholder of the Company wholly-owner by Mr. Cheung, has
acquired 57,600,000 shares of the Company at a consideration of
HK$5,000,000 through an off-market transaction (the “Acquisition
2"), upon completion of the Acquisition 2, Waywin Investment and
Mr. Cheung were together interested in 541,200,000 shares of the
Company, representing approximately 67.65% of the issued share
capital of the Company. For further details, please refer to the

announcement of the Company dated 30 March 2023.

EVENTS AFTER THE YEAR

The Group had no significant events from the end of the Year to
the date of this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

INTRODUCTION

This is the Environmental, Social, and Governance ("ESG")
report (the "Report”) published by Boltek Holdings Limited (the
“"Company”), together with its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”
or “We"), for the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
(the "Year"). This report provides a concise overview of the Group's
environmental, social, and governance ("ESG") initiatives, plans,
and performance in a transparent manner. The Group committed
to enhancing its corporate social responsibility (“CSR") standards
and rigorously adhered to complying with pertinent laws and

regulations concerning ESG.

The Group is principally engaged in providing engineering
consultancy services, primarily focusing on road and structural
engineering, geotechnical engineering, and traffic engineering in
Hong Kong, with decades of experience. We specialize in the field
of infrastructure development. The Group has made dedicated
efforts to deliver engineering consultancy services ethically and
professionally while upholding environmental integrity. Additionally,

we actively contribute to the community.

The Report has been prepared under the ESG Reporting Guide
as set out in Appendix C2 of the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX"). This Report has
adhered to all mandatory disclosure requirements and “comply or
explain” provisions specified in the ESG Reporting Guide.

The Report is prepared based on the principles of “materiality”,

"quantitative”, and “consistency”.

Materiality: The materiality assessment was conducted to ensure
that material and relevant ESG topics are identified and included in

this Report.

Quantitative: Quantitative key performance indicators ("KPIs") data,
which are comparable to the previous year, are disclosed in the
Report with supplementary notes when necessary for stakeholders’

understanding.

Consistency: The Report has been prepared based on the same
calculation methodologies, standards, and reporting scope

throughout the year and compared to the previous year.

HE

B EEZERERAR (TRQF ) REHBA
Al(RESIAREEIN[RAD NEN_—F ==
F-A-BEZ-_=F+-A=+—BU(XHF
EMRE & &ER (ESG)) #E ([H|E]) -
ABEABANT ARG EF AN REIRE - 4
g NMeER([ESG]) B - FHEIR KT - AEEK
NRRBAECERSEE ((DELEEE]) 1TE
I B A% 8 T B ESG B B ARRERIER -

AEBTERERBARETIEERRE 2
EIRBERREBIRE EXIREBIRE
THERBH+FOER - RATINERRIEER
B ARBNER N AEEERTTEENR
B RBRAEXAE L BIRMH T ZERRSE
BEAN - BRI BHERFELTEGER

BEDREBEMERSMER AR ([FBBX
Ft]) GEM 7 4R Bl B 8% C2 P 81 ESG ¥ &5 15 51 #®
B RREDBTESGHRE S| BRI PTB 2
WERRE N[BT R -

ABREDREFIEZE] (T2 R3]
JRAI AR R o
BERN  ETERUNAAEREREA N

ESGHEE » W HMARRS -

EEARERBEELFREALNEEFREN
EE((HAREARER) 8z TEVERK L@
FEE AT 10 E A -

— B ABRERRNFENRRT L RERK
STEEHE F—FHEF -

Annual Report 3 2023 21




Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RR - HERERRE

BOARD STATEMENT
The Group has integrated an ESG strategy into our business

operations, comprising risk assessment, strategy formulation, and
decision-making processes. The Group has established a framework
to align its ESG governance, which primarily consists of the board
of directors (referred to as the "Board”), the ESG Working Group,

and designated personnel from operational departments.

The Board, comprising members with the requisite skills,
experience, knowledge, and perspectives, serves as the governing
body with ultimate responsibility for overseeing the Group's ESG
strategy, management, and reporting governance. We regularly
identify, monitor, and manage ESG-related risks and opportunities,

and establish ESG strategy and objectives.

To fulfil their supportive role, designated personnel from
operational departments are responsible for providing and
analyzing ESG data, assisting in formulating relevant strategies in
their respective working areas, and ensuring the effectiveness of
policy implementation in line with the strategies and objectives
endorsed by the Board. Regular meetings are conducted between
the Board and the designated personnel from operational
departments to address ESG-related matters, assess policy
implementation processes, and evaluate risks, targets, and

strategies pertaining to the Group's ESG initiatives.

The regular ESG meetings provide ongoing monitoring of the
ESG work process. By convening ESG meetings regularly, the
Group ensures that our ESG strategy and objectives remain
aligned with broader business goals. Additionally, the meetings
play a crucial role in ensuring compliance with legal requirements
and meeting stakeholders’ expectations. Regulatory frameworks
related to environmental protection, social responsibility, and
corporate governance are constantly evolving, making it essential
for the Group to stay abreast of changes and adapt their practices
accordingly. ESG meetings provide an opportunity to assess
the Group's compliance status, identify any gaps or areas of

improvement, and take proactive measures to address them.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - HgREBEE

BOARD STATEMENT (continued) ExgeBH @

All ESG- related disclosure, policies, goals and targets are reviewed — FTHEEESGHEBIMIFE « X « BIZMIEEZEYH
and endorsed by the Board, which is also tasked with ensuringthe EZERBERIE  EFSNEBERRAREE
implementation and effectiveness of the risk management and K AEBESIEHIE A E HE N A RIE

internal control systems.

Example metrics in the main categories of ESG include: ESGEEZHAPHERHBIIBHE

Environmental
Safeguarding of

the environment, emission,
energy saving.
B4R
RIR ORHE

ERRE °

Sustainability
AR EER

Governance Social
Compliance, Community
transparency, involvement, fair and

business ethic and
commitment to stakeholder,

safe working conditions,
labour policy, equality

anti-corruption and diversity.
R HE
SRM - BRE HE2E  RTREZEH
[HESE IS EEsTnES TR - BTHR -
BEGE - RBRK FERZTTE
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT FhhESH

We acknowledge our responsibility and accountability to all  HFPIEREMEMEFHENEEREH - AT
stakeholders. To understand and address their concerns, we R ERFEEMTHME  RAEBEREEY
maintain close communication with them. Through various Eifl - ZMEBASEEIANIEEARBRERSE
formal and informal channels, we gather their opinions to gain M ER L2 HE 7 HESHAIFEZENE LR
a comprehensive understanding of their perspectives and H12 - Z A EZ BN BEM BT S BEL FEFAT
expectations regarding sustainable development. This approach BN EA T o TRINE RSB FEHDE LR
aids us in fulfilling our social responsibilities and balancing the — BEill F P08 18 K B 5 46 -

interests of all stakeholders. The table below lists the Group's

stakeholders, and outlines our efforts in communication and

response.
Stakeholder
Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations
BOEER AREROE BB E AH
Investors o Shareholders o Corporate website o Return on investment
REE o KRR o RAM o REAMDHK
o Potential investors e Annual and interim financial reports ~ ®  Corporate governance
o BEREE o FERPHHBERE o BXER
e Quarterly reports and announcement
o FERERAM
o Annual general meetings
o BRRBEFARE
o Disclosure of listed information
o BELTER
Employees o Senior management Direct communication Career development
(3 s SREEE BRER BEZR
o Staff Training and seminars Staff remunerations and benefits
« BT B R E B THMER

o Potential recruits

o EBEMEER

24 rnnual Report 3 2023

Face-to-face meetings
AHEGH

Independent focus groups and
interviews
BURE/ERER

CSR and volunteering activities
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continuec) KESHE@E)
Stakeholder
Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations
BFHEER ARENE EBERHE A
Customers o Government authorities e Customer assessment o Service quality
xP o BRHE o PR o RBKEE
o Highways Department o Periodical progress meeting o Delivery times
o BHE o THEERSZ o REHME
o Transport Department o Compliance in laws and regulations
o EHE o ETEREER
o Civil Engineering and

Development Department
o ITAIRHREE

o Water Supplies Department

o KBE

o Drainage Services Department
o RBE

o Construction contractors

o BEAEE

o Property developers

o NEEREB

o Public transportation corporation

o REEHRF

o Architectural firm

o RESHM
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R HERERRE

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT (continued) K ESRE

Stakeholder

Groups Specific Stakeholders Methods of Communication Expectations

BHEARN  ARBnE BELE ki

Suppliers o Subcontractors o Subcontractor assessment *  Engagement and cooperation
HIER « NBEB o NBEEHE o 2HAAHE

o Daily work review

o GHIfFR:

e Site inspection

o WBBEE

*  Meeting with sub- contractors

o 2RNEE

Government e Local governments e Written correspondence o Compliance with laws and regulations
and o KEHHE o EEBEA o BTARER
Regulators ¢ Regulators o Statutory reports and general

BEREE o EERE disclosure
35 o EEBRER-REE

26  Annual Report 3 2023



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R HERERRE

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

In order to ensure that the Report effectively addresses the
concerns of our stakeholders, we have conducted a materiality
assessment that considers both relevance and importance. This
assessment enables us to identify and prioritize the ESG topics
that are most significant to our business and stakeholders. By
focusing on these material ESG topics, we can pinpoint areas for
improvement in our CSR efforts. Additionally, this approach allows
us to provide more comprehensive, transparent, and specific
responses, thereby enhancing the overall quality of the ESG

management.

We have adopted the following steps in the materiality assessment

pprocess:

1. ldentified and categorized a list of potential topics in
environmental and social aspects, respectively, based on

stakeholder concerns and the Group's business.

2. Conducted a materiality assessment to measure the

importance of each topic.

3. Analyzed, prioritized, and selected the most significant and

relevant topics for stakeholders by the Group.

The following issues are considered the most concerned for
stakeholders and the Group. With a focus on environmental and
social responsibilities, the Group will prioritize efforts to achieve
ongoing improvement and sustainable business development.

Environmental Energy saving

aspects: Waste Management

Social aspects: Employment

Employee compensation and welfare

Employee development and training

Customers satisfaction

Compliance with laws and regulations relating
to services provided

Services quality

BEEMSW

RERAREERRERHEBEOHME - M
BETET AR REZ N EE M - %
ELEMEUHENRBEZERERMOEBL K
BNESKEENESGHE BRI ITNZEEE
ESGi#mE MM AT AR XL SGEETIERH
EUCE MR o AN AR RMIESARME
2H- - ERRKEBHOEEER  MIESESGE
BrEEEE -

BACREZUFGEBRETFRAUTIR

1. BREFSOHENBINAEENED 25
BRI R EIRRE XA & MR BERESK o

2. ETEERUEUFAEEZENERIE -

3. AKRBEABOHEIN BEEFR
EZRABAOZERE -

DATF?%%&%@E%%%%&K%%RE@;‘E%F‘&
cERRBEMMEEE  AKEHELTIN
EEE%%E WERAFERBRRE -

PN

Rl Be
EYER

REHE :

HeHm| : BLE

B T3 B S A R B

8 TR AE

BEPMEE

ETHEAMEERG AR
EEER

RBEE
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RR - HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Emissions

The Group understands that reducing emissions is essential
for safeguarding the environment, conserving biodiversity, and
promoting sustainable economic development. The primary source
of air pollutants emitted by the Group includes carbon emissions
from the consumption of unleaded petrol from motor vehicles,
electricity, and paper. To minimize our environmental impact, the
Group promotes the use of public transportation among staff.
When driving is necessary, we prioritize the use of unleaded petrol
for all motor vehicles, which has lower greenhouse gas emissions
and better fuel economy. Additionally, the Group regularly
maintains and repairs its vehicles to prevent excessive air pollutant
emissions caused by damaged parts or other factors. In the future,
efforts to minimize overall petrol consumption and transition to
alternative fuels, such as electric or hydrogen-powered vehicles, will

be pursued by the Group when practicable.

Despite the relatively minor impact of emissions generated by the
Group on the environment, we remain dedicated to implementing
effective measures to advance environmental protection and foster
sustainable societal development. These efforts align with pertinent

emission laws and regulations.

RERE

BB

AREBERA - B HRRE R ERIR - REE
MERUERRELENHEEZREFER - £ %
BB ERSARYN I ERREEESENE
tTH  BEORMEKBRMEENBER - RF
ERIHRENTE AKEREEIEARK
RBIR -EAELVERSBER  HMELAMAHK
BEME)Uh - HAFFEANREREHR R
F A EVOM B o BEAN - NEBEEHH BEEE
TTREREE - U IERTHEEREMERE
Xz RS R B ER - R ARBEREDE
AITHBER TR IRNEER D EETUHEFRE
WEMBERRE  MESHHEE)TE -

BEASRBELNFRYEREELNTERY
B BRPUDBD R REVE BRI - AHEEIR
BRENRELENTHEER - ZFHETR
MR PEROERER

Air emissions from vehicles REBEHPBER IR
Unit FY2023 FY2022
By “ECZBE T _EF
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) A8ty gram %% 3,014.37 3,422.32
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) =k 7] gram 5% 33.35 36.82
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) BLSUN =2 v gram 7% 221.94 251.98
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continuec) RERE @)
Emissions (continued) BEm Y (&)
Greenhouse gas emissions BERBHER
Types of GHG Unit FY2023 FY2022
REREE By “EZCZHF —T__WF
Direct emissions (Scope 1): B (BE)
~ GHG emissions from mobile - RERSRERN  CO,Z&AfbHx tonne I 5.35 5.91
combustion sources RERBHN CH, Fif kg T 16.07 17.74
NO' —&ft ="' kg TR 664.30 733.42
Indirect emissions (Scope 2): REHE (5E2)
— Electricity purchased from CLP -BHREBEMESN  CO &R tonne I 65.97 63.2
Total emissions for Scope 1 & HENVREE2REHENR  CO,ZAILHK tonne I 72.00 69.86
Scope 2 gas emissions BHmE
Emission intensity HHEE CO,—&thx tonne/staff 0.42 0.47
M/ &8
Other indirect emissions (Scope 3): HfE S (EE3)
— Paper waste disposals —BREE CO, Z&1thik tonne & 21.52 21.46
~ Electricity used for processing —BUHFIEERKRE CO, Z& bk kg T 121.59 58.63
fresh water and sewage by KRS N
government department
Business air travel by employees BB =R EBKIT
— Emissions from air travel —EHRIRTEENHER CO,Z&1bik tonne I - -
Note: Fif et -
1. Methane and nitrous oxide emissions were converted to carbon dioxide 1. Rk — A A EREERE(CEE ((GWP)) 8

emissions based on global warming potential (“"GWP”). The total amount of

greenhouse gas emissions is the total amount of carbon dioxide emissions

equivalent.

BATALHHFNE - BREREBHNLESER — AL

HHEREE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Emissions (continued)

Greenhouse gas emissions (continued)

We reduced our consumption of unleaded petrol and electricity
during the Year. We implemented a more rigorous approval
process for the use of motor vehicles to restrict usage. Regarding
electricity consumption from office lighting, air conditioning, and
office equipment, we enforced and consistently reminded our
staff to switch off idle lighting and machines. Our air conditioning
systems were set to energy-saving temperatures to conserve
energy. Additionally, we maintained a zero-business air travel policy
by encouraging staff to utilize video conferencing facilities, thereby

reducing carbon emissions from unnecessary business trips.

The Group aims to decrease GHG emissions intensity by 2% in the
year 2026 compared to the 2021 baseline, primarily by transitioning
to hybrid cars in the near future. Additionally, despite ongoing
office expansion, we are actively pursuing this goal through the
implementation of stricter energy-saving measures and increased
utilization of natural sunlight to reduce GHG emissions from

electricity.

For the Year, the Group did not receive any notice of non-
compliance in relation to air or GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes including but not limited to, such as the Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Cap. 311) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap.
354).
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R HERERRE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Reducing Waste and Promoting Recycling

The main source of non-hazardous waste for the Group is office
paper, given the usage of documents such as drawings, contracts,
and correspondence in our consultancy service. We generated
4.48 tonnes of wasted paper during the year, slightly up from
4.47 tonnes in 2022. The Group has initiated efforts to educate its
employees about the importance of reducing paper usage such as

below.

e Encourage staff to utilize digital documents and emails instead

of printing hard copies whenever possible

e  Set default printer settings to print double-sided to reduce
paper consumption and adjust margins and fonts to minimise

number of pages for printing

e Use file-sharing platforms or cloud storage to distribute

documents instead of printing multiple copies

e  Set up designated recycling bins for paper waste to ensure

that scrap paper is recycled

We do not produce a significant amount of hazardous waste from
our engineering consultancy service. Consequently, no relevant
targets have been established in this regard. Nevertheless, the
Group has established procedures for handling hazardous waste
whenever it arises. In the event that hazardous waste is identified,
the Group takes swift action to engage qualified suppliers
who specialize in its safe and proper management to ensure
that hazardous waste is handled in accordance with regulatory
requirements and industry best practices, thereby minimizing any

potential harm to the environment.

Since the Group already minimizes paper consumption and
avoids unnecessary paper waste, we find that establishing a waste
reduction target may not be meaningful for us. Nevertheless, we
remain committed to further reducing our paper usage in the future

to the best of our ability.

RERE @)

D BEE M B A 1= R A
ERBARBERRETERESR SR LKHFSE
X ARBEEERZVNIEZRRSMAR
M-MAFE RMELIBBEL  BSR
T _FMANTHE - ARBCEETFRAHEEESE
WMAOMRERNEZMN - MTEXHAR -

s ZHRMEIRWREERBFXMHFRETEMN
mIEFIENREHE B

o BITEMEM AR ERE ST EI AR 2
MERERLABRRBERFEUZARE
R 5 EN B K

s FAXHAFZTVFAIEFROBEXXMF M
FEDIENZ 10 B A

o RREEMETEEIMIAY LA FE(R B AL T B
il

BN I RERRG I EELAEREERY -
Et - B PSR L T7 T i R B E AR RE B AR o AR
AEEEHERERZRHEEAEEEMORIE
—BRBETERY  AEKESHERRNTE
BREFINFLRERZEEREERREVNAE
RELER - URRE EREMRBEERERT
EEREERETRE  EMHEARERD IR
BNBERE -

HRAEECDZRERIVARERNBL TV ED
MRORE - HPIERRERDBEEM B IRAIEE
HBRFPAMSLEEE - AW RADBAORER
RESKABNE-FTRIMRERE -
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Use of Resources

The primary sources of energy consumption in our operations
include electric equipment, air conditioning, and lighting in offices.
Our office operations do not involve significant water consumption.
To reduce the environmental impact of our operations, the Group is
dedicated to adopting eco-friendly practices to effectively manage

energy consumption.

Energy Saving
The Group is dedicated to implementing the concept of a green
office and remains steadfast in reducing electricity consumption

through measures such as the following:

e Educate employees about the importance of energy
conservation and encourage them to adopt energy-saving
habits, such as turning off lights and equipment when not in

use

e Set office temperature at an energy-saving level of around

RIRE (2

EREMA

RS ENEREREEFRBERAENESN
B mRARRA  RAOBRLETSRAR
K- BROEEHBAEOVE  AEERHR

RARREE  UWBRERERERE -

B RE

AEERNREBZERQIES  URETBH
BBATHEERDENER

e MEISEMENEEN YZBERER

FRERBEE 18

&

{51 20 #2152 7 By B B O K

o HRHAERERTEE25TEAHIEREKF

25T
e Make use of natural daylight by positioning workstations near ¢ B IT{ENEBEESTEAFNMLENFEA
windows v
Electricity consumption during the Year XEEREER
Unit FY2023 FY2022
B e e
Total electricity consumption HHEE kWh F FL B 178,285.00 170,814.00
Electricity usage intensity (kWh/Staff) AERE (TEN EE) kwh TR 1,042.60 1,162.00
The increase in energy consumption during the Year is due to  ANFEgeB EFERL H1 TR A RPN P R 15 78 12

the expansion of our office area. This expansion was undertaken
with the primary objective of enhancing the working environment
for our staff members. As we expanded our physical workspace
to accommodate the growing needs of our team, it led to higher
energy usage to power the additional office spaces, equipment,
and facilities. In the coming year, we will continue our efforts to
achieve the target of reducing electricity usage intensity to around
900 kWh per staff member. This will involve maintaining energy
usage at a minimum by utilizing energy-saving lighting and electric

appliances wherever feasible.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

Water Management

Our engineering consultancy services contribute to water
consumption primarily through office operations, including
cleaning, sanitation, restroom facilities, and employee amenities.
We have not encountered any significant issues in sourcing water
that is fit for purpose. The Group regularly investigates water leaks
and employs water-saving techniques to minimize unnecessary
water consumption. Additionally, by promoting simple daily
practices and enhancing internal communication, the Group fosters
awareness among employees regarding the significance of water

conservation.

The data provided below records fresh water consumption in
specific areas of our head office. The management of water
consumption records for other areas is handled by the property
management company, making it unavailable for us to access.
Consequently, the Group aims to reduce water consumption in the

areas under our monitoring for the upcoming year.

To achieve the target of maintaining low consumption and
avoiding unnecessary water usage, the Group will keep track of
water consumption regularly to identify areas for improvement.
Additionally, the Group will continue to conduct routine inspections
for leaks in pipes and toilets, promptly repairing any leaks to

prevent wastage.

RIERE#®)

RAXKER

RPN IEEMREEEZEBNAEBEEELRK
BIEBFR -HE HAEEKGNETEFRE-
HPERBGEA KRS B EE B EANMRE -
AN B TF B SRR S 5R A ER KT - DASR
ERITIVENRAKE - 1IN BBEEHSELN
AFEBNIMAANSER KNEBEIRAE THE
HAKEZMRHE -

SR BUR RO SRR PI AR BD A TE [ I HO A O
FE - HtRENAKCEAYEEERAREER
B BRRMEZEHMEBCE - At - K&
[ 50 B AR A R 2K — IR A TR AP BRI R 38 A A 7K

E°

REBHEFRERKE R T HERKNEIE
AREEK T HERAKE - URBHIFEENENE
o AN NEE R B L E B R PTIRKETT
FIITIRE - REEERK - UHLERE -

Water consumption during the Year WEERKER
Unit FY2023 FY2022
By ZEZZHME —T__WF
Total water consumption BAKE m? 37 77 K 197.00 95.00
Water consumption intensity (kWh/Staff)  F/KZE (FTEE EBE) m*yM XK 1.15 0.65
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)

The Environment and Natural Resources

Despite the Group's limited impact on the environment and
natural resources, we acknowledge our responsibility to mitigate
any adverse environmental effects in our business operations. The
Group continually identifies, evaluates, and addresses its exposure
to environmental risks and adopts suitable preventive measures to

mitigate these risks.

The Group implements policies and initiatives aimed at reducing
emissions and conserving resources to protect the environment and
natural resources. By enacting these measures, we aim to decrease
our carbon footprint and promote sustainable practices throughout
our organization. Additionally, we prioritize enhancing employee
awareness regarding environmental concerns by providing them
with practical guidance and actionable tips. These resources are
designed to empower our staff to actively participate in efforts
to reduce energy consumption and GHG emissions. Through
education and support, we foster a culture of environmental
responsibility. The Group will also closely monitor any revisions or
updates to relevant environmental and natural resource laws and

regulations to ensure compliance.

Climate Change

Climate change continues to be a serious and pressing issue in
recent years. The Group has evaluated potential climate-related
risks that could impact our business and categorized them, along

with corresponding mitigation measures, as outlined below.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION (continued)
Climate Change (continued)

Physical risks

Acute risks

SR

RERE @)
RIRBL (&)
WE R B

Chronic risks

12 1 E B

Risks description

gzl

Risk management
measures
[\ B B IR HE e

Transition risks

Extreme weather events such as tropical
cyclones, rainstorms or floods can directly
impact the Group's operations by damaging
infrastructure, disrupting utilities, and
disrupting staff availability.

BERIE  BRIHKEERRREFTRES
B *’“”m BELAREXLTEETH
Al MERFAEERENEE

The staff handbook of the Group includes
policies regarding work arrangements during
extreme weather conditions, such as black
rainstorm warnings or typhoons of a certain

magnitude or higher.

AEENBTFMBEERREERESHEE

BESA L EEFHEBERRIBF T TIELH
HY R 2R

Legal risk

The Group may face heatwaves, which increase
energy demand for cooling and pose health
risks to employees

ZAN SEI R - EgigmLalgeRER
iﬁéml%\ll%ﬁ%l%lffl—l R

We would offer training to employees to
identify symptoms of heat-related illnesses
and implement energy-saving measures.

HAIERE TREEN - LB &REEE R
TRAE AR I B e B0 B HE I

pER e

Risks description

gzl

Risk management

measures

A E IR

Failure to comply with climate-related regulations, such as emissions limits, reporting

requirements, and environmental standards, can result in fines, penalties, and legal sanctions

from regulatory authorities.
REEETRIRAABER - PIABERR S -
Ba B MORRBIEL o

MEBRMIRIBIZE A @B8REET

The Group would regularly monitor climate-related regulations, stay updated on legal

requirements, and provide training for employees on compliance obligations.

REE B E HIEIE RIRARRDER -

Due to our industry expertise, we anticipate that shifts in customer

preferences will not significantly affect us. We remain vigilant in

monitoring regulatory developments to ensure our services align

with both regulatory and customers’ requirements.

KB TEERRE YRBTRHE

MBI

BARBEMOITEEENE  BRMBEAEPRESN
BRI e RMEEERATE - HMHEREE
BRAEFLES UBEREMANRBHEEEHE
PEIE -
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RR - HERERRE

EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES

Recognizing employees as invaluable assets essential to the
Group'’s success, the Group is committed to fostering an inclusive
work environment conducive to attracting and retaining talent.
We've established a thorough human resources framework with
policies and procedures outlined in our staff handbook, covering
compensation, recruitment and dismissal, performance appraisal,

employee welfare, as well as training and development initiatives.

During the Year, to the best of the Group’s knowledge, we did not
have any instance of non-compliance in relation to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest
periods, equal opportunities, diversity, antidiscrimination and other
benefits and welfare such as the Sex Discrimination Ordinance,
Race Discrimination Ordinance, Disability Discrimination Ordinance

and Family Status Discrimination Ordinance.

Recruitment and dismissal

We have implemented a fair recruitment policy with the objective
of selecting the most suitable candidates. To foster diversity
and equality within our workforce, we welcome candidates from
all backgrounds, regardless of gender, age, race, family status,
religion, or disability. This approach promotes an inclusive and
equitable workplace environment where every individual has the

opportunity to thrive and contribute effectively.

Our recruitment process adheres to principles of fairness,
transparency, and compliance with both legal and organizational
standards. We employ rigorous screening procedures to verify
applicants’ age, qualifications, skills, and past experience. Our

policy strictly prohibits the employment of child labour.

Employment contracts, which outline the terms and conditions
of employment such as job responsibilities and working hours,
are signed between the Group and employees to provide clarity,
protection, and legal certainty in the employment relationship. The

stipulated working No forced labour is allowed.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Recruitment and dismissal (continued)

In our commitment to fostering the growth of the next generation
of professionals, we have established an internship program
tailored for university students. This initiative aims to cultivate new
talents not only for the Group but also for the broader construction
industry. The program provides university students with full-time
training opportunities during their summer vacations, enabling
them to gain valuable work experience prior to entering the labour

market.

Dismissal and termination of employment within our organization
are strictly conducted on legal grounds, ensuring fairness and
prohibiting any form of unjust or discriminatory dismissal. If
any cases of child labour, forced labour, or violations of labour
standards are discovered, the employment relationship will be
promptly terminated. Subsequent investigations will be conducted
to review the recruitment procedure and address any identified
weaknesses. During the Year, the Group did not have any non-

compliance relating to child or forced labour prevention.

Retention

In our efforts to attract and retain talented staff, we provide
competitive remuneration packages and benefits to our employees,
with the aim of boosting job satisfaction and fostering loyalty. To
acknowledge employees’ contributions and promote growth, the
Group conducts regular performance appraisals. These reviews
occur annually, allowing employees to openly discuss their
performance and career aspirations with their supervisors. The
outcomes of these evaluations are utilized for salary reviews and

promotion decisions.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Retention (continued)

Also, we create a positive organizational culture where all staff
members are valued, respected, and empowered to perform
at their best. Any forms of discrimination or harassment in the
workplace are not allowed. This is reflected in the formulation
and implementation of equal opportunity policies, which adhere
to applicable laws and regulations. Employees are strongly
encouraged to report any instances of discrimination to the
management, who will be responsible for assessing, investigating,
documenting, and rectifying weaknesses in substantiated cases.
Should any incidents of discrimination be observed, employees
are expected to promptly report such occurrences. The Group will
then conduct thorough investigations and implement appropriate

follow-up measures to ensure a fair and inclusive work environment.

Staff Composition and turnover

As of December 31, 2023, we have 171 full-time staff (compared to
147 in 2022), marking an increase from the previous year, excluding
resident side staff, all based in Hong Kong. The growth in our
workforce reflects our expanding operations and organizational
development. Additionally, the composition of our workforce
indicates a higher presence of male employees, which aligns with

the characteristics of our industry.

By Gender
RIERIE 5
25%
Entry level
AR
.Female
I Middle level _
AR
Male Senior level
oy enior level _
75% S
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Staff Composition and turnover (continued)

By Age Group
REWRE D

8%

53%
13%

21%

Through various initiatives and strategies, including enhanced
employee engagement programs and targeted retention efforts,
the company has successfully reduced turnover rates. In the Year,
the Group recorded a turnover rate of 22% (compared to 34% in
2022), with a total of 38 (2022:45) permanent employees (excluding
interns) departing. Further breakdowns of turnover by gender, age

group, and geographical region are provided below:

By Gender
Turnover Rate
2023 2022
—Eg2-= g
Male B 25% 31%
Female 7% 14% 41%
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Staff Composition and turnover (continued)
By Age Group

Turnover Rate

K=

2023 2022

—E-=HF ZECF

21-30yearsold 21-30%% 31% 42%
31-40years old 31-405% 22% 33%
41-50years old  41-50 5% 9% 29%
51-60 years old  51-607%% 0% 9%
> 60yearsold  60BFLA L 0% 0%

Staff Welfare

In addition to complying with labor laws and regulations, The Group
prioritizes staff welfare by offering comprehensive remuneration
packages to all employees. These packages ensure that employees
are fairly compensated based on their contributions, benchmarked
against market standards. Alongside competitive salaries, we
provide various types of leave entitlements, including sick leave,
marriage leave, bereavement leave, maternity leave, and statutory

holidays.

We adhere to relevant local laws by making requisite contributions
to statutory retirement schemes. Medical insurance coverage is
offered to employees, ensuring their health and well-being are
safeguarded. To further enhance staff welfare, The Group organizes
staff and family overseas trips, providing opportunities for
relaxation and bonding outside of the workplace. These trips offer
employees and their families the chance to unwind and rejuvenate
in an exciting environment, away from the stresses of work. Beyond
relaxation, these trips also serve as valuable opportunities for
bonding and fostering deeper connections among team members

and their families.

Furthermore, The Group promotes continuous learning and
professional growth by offering education allowances for work-
related training and allowances for job-related membership
registrations, such as membership with professional organizations

like The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers ("HKIE").
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)
Health and Safety

The nature of our consultancy services, with no positions identified
as having significant safety risks, inherently carries minimal risks to
employees’ health and safety. Nevertheless, the Group is dedicated
to ensuring a safe workplace and prioritizes the health and
safety of its employees. All employees are thoroughly briefed on
occupational health and safety issues, and we actively encourage
their participation in job-related safety training courses offered by

reputable organizations like the HKIE.

Additionally, we provide suitable office equipment and offer
guidance on office occupational health and safety practices to our
staff. First aid boxes are strategically placed in easily accessible
locations throughout the offices for immediate use in case of
emergencies, and minor injuries are promptly treated upon request.
Furthermore, we emphasize the importance of a balanced lifestyle
to promote employee personal growth, health, and overall well-
being. This includes encouraging practices that support physical
health, mental well-being, and work-life balance among our staff.
To ensure a healthy work environment, we regularly monitor office
air quality through the use of air purifiers and conduct periodic

cleaning of the air-conditioning system.

There were neither work injury cases nor job-related fatalities in the
previous three years. The Group did not receive any notices of non-
compliance regarding providing a safe working environment and

protecting employees from occupational hazards during the Year.
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EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR PRACTICES (continued)

Development and Training

The continuous success of the Group relies heavily on the
invaluable contributions of our talented individuals. Consequently,
fostering talent and refining the skills of our workforce are crucial for
sustaining business growth and ensuring the Group's competitive
advantage within the industry. The Group has established relevant
policies for managing employee training, encouraging participation
in both internal and external training sessions, and pursuing
professional qualifications. The Group provides an induction
course for new staff members, ensuring they become familiar
with the Group's values, code, goals, organizational structure,
job responsibilities, and industry standards. Attendance at the
induction meeting is mandatory for all new hires to facilitate their

understanding of these aspects of the firm.

The Group consistently evaluates its training methods to support
our employees in achieving their full potential. We regularly
organize a variety of training programs to keep our staff members
abreast of the latest developments and knowledge in their
respective fields. To facilitate continuous development for less
experienced staff, supervisors are responsible for providing on-the-
job training to their subordinates from time to time. Our in-house
training covers a wide range of subjects, including safety protocols,
stakeholder communication, operational procedures, and technical
training (e.g., building design, geotechnical work, and noise
barriers). We also encourage our staff to participate in job-related
training provided by external associations. Additionally, we offer
training sponsorships for courses considered relevant to their job

duties on a discretionary basis.

Throughout the year, 57% of permanent employees engaged in
training sessions, averaging 2.07 hours each. When broken down
by gender, 60% of male employees and 47% of female employees
participated, with average training durations of 3.95 hours and
2.45 hours, respectively. In terms of career level, the percentages
of permanent employees participating in training were 22% for
senior-level staff, 45% for middle-level staff, and 71% for entry-level
staff. The average durations of training activities for each of these

categories were 9.88 hours, 3.46 hours, and 3.34 hours, respectively.
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OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

Since the Group's principal activity is in engineering consultancy
services, our supply chain primarily consists of subcontractors
offering engineering consultancy to the Group, along with suppliers
handling our administrative supplies. During the Year, the Group
engaged 42 subcontractors and suppliers in our supply chain,
compared to 40 in the year 2022. Additionally, over 99% of them
were based in Hong Kong. To cultivate robust and trustworthy
relationships with these stakeholders, the Group has implemented
a policy on subcontracting and procurement procedures. Before
onboarding a new subcontractor and supplier, we adhere to our
established policy, conducting a fair and equal selection process.
This involves conducting background checks from available sources
to evaluate suppliers based on their expertise, qualifications,
reputation, environmental compliance, legal regulatory adherence,
and commitment to the Group. Subcontractors and suppliers
meeting our criteria are added to our approved list of suppliers,
which is regularly updated by the Group. Preference is given
to those who undertake to comply with our requirements and
related environmental and social laws and regulations. Suppliers
and subcontractors who were previously found in violation of
environmental and social-related laws and regulations would be
engaged unless sufficient and supportive evidence shows that such

weaknesses have been rectified.

We expect all suppliers and subcontractors to adhere to the
standards of environment, quality, society, and commercial ethics.
We monitor the performance of our subcontractors through
occasional meetings and daily deliverables, such as work reports.
Reports received from site offices also aid us in assessing their
performance. Suppliers are monitored based on the routine
services provided and goods delivered. If any delivered services or
goods are found to be below our standard, they will be required
to make improvements. Goods procured with accreditation must
provide corresponding certification documents. The Group reserves
the right to impose penalties or terminate contracts with suppliers
and subcontractors involved in serious environmental pollution or

social disputes, such as human rights issues.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Service Responsibility

Our client base primarily consists of construction contractors
engaged in civil engineering and building construction projects,
various government authorities, and other clients such as public
transportation corporations and property developers. With such
diverse clients, we bear significant responsibility in delivering
professional and high-quality services. To uphold these standards,
we've developed a comprehensive internal control manual and
compliance manual. These manuals outline ethical standards,
including anti-corruption, anti-bribery, and anti-discrimination
policies. Additionally, the internal control manual delineates
operational procedures for daily tasks to ensure thorough review,

approval, and compliance with customers’ standards.

Prior to presenting our deliverables to clients, all of our work
undergoes a standardized review and approval process. This
procedure is designed to ensure that our deliverables are as error-
free and aligned with the clients’ requirements as practicable. Each
stage of our workflow involves thorough scrutiny and verification,
enabling us to identify and rectify any potential mistakes or
omissions before the final presentation to the client. By adhering
to this rigorous review and approval protocol, we uphold our
commitment to delivering high-quality solutions that meet and

exceed our clients’ expectations.

The Group's attainment of 1ISO9001:2015 certification underscores
its commitment to maintaining exceptional standards in quality
management within the realm of engineering consultancy services.
It shows the Group's dedication to consistently delivering top-notch
services that meet or exceed industry benchmarks. 1ISO%9001:2015
certification signifies adherence to rigorous quality management
protocols, ensuring that the Group's processes, procedures, and
methodologies are structured to optimize efficiency, effectiveness,
and client satisfaction. By obtaining this certification, the Group
demonstrates its capability to uphold stringent quality standards,
instilling confidence among clients and stakeholders in the

reliability and excellence of its services.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Service Responsibility (continued)

A complaint-handling policy has been established as a guideline for
addressing complaints. Contact details, including a hotline number
and email address, are posted on the Group's website for public
consultation regarding the services we provide and the projects
we are carrying out. All complaints will be handled directly by our
management. All information published on the Group’s website is

carefully examined by responsible personnel.

As regards customer data privacy, the Group encounters sensitive
information of customers typically during the tendering stage.
To obtain the consent of our customers in providing data to
us, an agreement over information confidentiality is signed and
appended to each contract. The agreement informs customers
of our purposes for collecting their information and assures them
that the Group will restrict the use of the information to the stated
purposes. Furthermore, it stipulates that the Group will not disclose
the sensitive information to any third party without the customers’

consent.

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual rights. We
protect intellectual property rights by purchasing from authorised
suppliers to ensure that only licensed software is used for our
business operations. In addition, we required all staff members not

to infringe any third-party interests.

During the year, the Group did not note any cases of non-
compliance with laws and regulations relating to health and safety,
advertising, labeling, and privacy matters related to the services

provided.
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OPERATING PRACTICES (continued)

Anti-corruption

To uphold our commitment to integrity, openness, probity, and
accountability, we strictly adhere to our anti-corruption policy. This
policy is outlined in our internal control manual and compliance
manual, which address various related matters such as conflicts
of interest, privacy, confidentiality of information, and bribery
prevention. The Group encourages employees to report any
concerns about misconduct, malpractice, or irregularities in a
confidential manner. We handle these concerns anonymously
and respond to them fairly and appropriately by following our
Group's whistleblowing policy. This policy aims to regulate and
prevent issues related to bribery, extortion, fraud, and money
laundering. Employees who raise concerns or complaints are
guaranteed protection against unfair dismissal, victimization, or
unwarranted disciplinary action, even if the concerns are ultimately
unsubstantiated. Any individuals found to victimize or retaliate
against whistleblowers will face disciplinary actions. However, the

Group did not receive any complaints during the Year.

Throughout the year, newly hired employees receive
comprehensive training on our anti-corruption policy as part of
their induction process. Additionally, we regularly update the
understanding of our existing staff and directors on these anti-
corruption principles by circulating training materials provided
by the Independent Commission Against Corruption ("ICAC").
Furthermore, all senior management personnel are obligated to
sign confidentiality agreements and declare any conflicts of interest

to demonstrate their commitment to the Group's best interests.

For the Year, there were no legal cases or non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion, fraud
and money laundering practices brought against the Group or the

employees.
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COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT

The Group is dedicated to fulfilling its role as a socially responsible
corporate citizen by actively engaging with the community,
contributing to societal welfare, and fostering mutual benefits for

the communities we support.

Throughout the year, the Group contributed a cash donation of
HK$70,000 to the Rainbow Fund, administered by the Community
Chest. It underscores our commitment to supporting individuals
facing adversity. The Rainbow Fund serves as a vital resource,
offering immediate short-term aid to those impacted by unforeseen
circumstances, such as the tragic loss of family breadwinners due to
work-related fatalities in the construction sector. Our contribution
to this fund reflects our dedication to helping those in need within
our community and providing timely assistance during challenging

times.

We maintain our support and contributed at the silver sponsorship
to Lifewire Run 2023, an event organized by Lifewire, a registered
charitable organization based in Hong Kong. This event concluded
successfully at Tsing Yi Promenade in December 2023. Lifewire
Run is an annual charity event orchestrated by Lifewire, with the
goal of raising awareness about rare diseases through an inclusive
running carnival that fosters community participation. The funds
generated from this event are dedicated to covering medical and

rehabilitation costs for children affected by rare diseases.

In addition, we also made cash donation to Taishan Charitable
Association Limited, which Established with the aim of alleviating
suffering, there are no political, religious, or class differences within
it, allowing everyone to unite and promote selfless love, pushing

charitable work in healing and alleviating suffering to the world.
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MOVING FORWARD

As we continue to grow our business, our dedication to
environmental preservation remains unwavering. We are committed
to advancing our corporate social responsibility efforts by reducing

our impact on the environment and actively engaging in social
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initiatives and contributions to benefit the public, thus creating #FABE °
enduring value for the community.
PERFORMANCE SUMMARY REBME
Environmental Performance RERR
Emissions Data from Vehicles: K E B e HE B R
Unit 2023 2022
=Rl —EC-=F —E -
Nitrogen Oxides (NOy) ARAy gram % 3,014.37 3,422.32
Sulphur Oxides (SOx) =Rl gram %%, 33.35 36.82
Respiratory Suspended Particles (PM) A% A 882 KT (PM) gram 52 221.94 251.98
GHG Direct Emissions (Scope 1): BERBEENK (FET) -
Unit 2023 2022
By —B-= —_TE_F
Emissions from stationary KA EEMRER CO, Z&1bfix tonne MA - -
combustion sources A HE R CH,Ffz tonne WA - -
N,O—F(L=—%& tonne lf - -
Emissions from mobile REBEREIR CO, =& iz tonne I 5.35 5.91
combustion sources #) FE R CH, B¢ kg T7 16.07 17.74
N, O—&{t=A kgT= 664.30 733.42
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) REAME#)
Environmental Performance (continued) RIBRIR (&)
GHG Indirect Emissions: m 2 R T BERL -
Unit 2023 2022
B —E-=F —T-—F
Scope 2 #i[E2
— Electricity purchased from CLP  — (Al & B ) CO, —&a1bhx tonne A 65.97 63.20
C Wi
Scope 3 #E3
— Paper waste disposals —REAR R CO, &1tz tonne I 21.52 21.46
— Electricity used for processing — AR FIRR IR CO, —&1bhx kg T 7% 121.59 58.63
fresh water and sewage by IR K5 K B
government department AeE

Business air travel by employees  {E B HYZE R R TT

— Emissions from air travel —ZEHRRITEAR  CO, ZEtix tonne W& - -
BEIR
Note: MEE -

The methodology adopted for above KPI calculation set out above was based on “How 5t = X ATl FIBE 52 48RRI 5T & AT - A B0 7704 Th A B 22 P 2%
to Prepare an ESG report? — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” — #if [2Nfa] iR BRI - @ REARE ? —Mix = - R

issued by the Stock Exchange. BRIEIZE 2 ®IES 11D -
Waste Disposals: BEYEE -
Unit 2023 2022
B —F-= —TF
Hazardous waste produced BEEEEYRE tonne I - -
Non-hazardous waste produced BEEZEVEE
— Paper waste — B4R tonne I 4.48 4.47

*

The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best ~ * TR ERNAENERRMBE_TE_=F1+_A
approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2023. =+ — B ASRRELQEREUE -
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) REME®E)
Environmental Performance (continued) RIERE (&)
Energy Consumption: BEJRHFE -
Unit 2023 2022
By —E-=F — T
Electricity used for the year FRMFEES kWh F & s 178,285.00 170,814.00
Per employee BHER kWh F BB 1,042.60 1,162.00
Water Consumption: FERE -
Unit 2023 2022
B —EZ=F T
Water used for the year FRMFEKSE m? 37 F7 K 197.00 95.00
Per employee BREE m3 37 J3 K 1.15 0.65
* The calculation of the above quantitative information is based on our best ~ * TR ERNAENERRMBE_ZE_=F1+=_A

approximation and the data available up to 31 December 2023.

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

=t HAASHEENBRRE -

HEEARRE-RBREER

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2023 2022

S S

—EZ= —F-—

Unit +=A +=H

Total Workforce BEAH By =+—H =+—H
By employment type REEFERES

Full-time £l no. of people A X 171 147

Part-time e bk no. of people AL - -

By gender RIER 8D
Male S no. of people A & 128 113
Female 4 no. of people AL 43 34
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued)

Social Responsibility Performance - Employment Practice

REABE#)
HEBEERB-ERERE)

(continued)
As at As at
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
» m
—E-=F —F-—
Unit +=A +=A
Total Workforce EEHAHY B =+—H =+—H
By age group RERER B D
< 20 years old 205 A~ no. of people A 1 -
21-30 years old 21-307% no. of people A% 90 69
31-40 years old 31-405% no. of people A £f 36 32
41-50 years old 41-50 5% no. of people AL 22 22
51-60 years old 51-6075% no. of people A% 9 10
> 60 years old 60BRIA | no. of people AL 13 14
By geographical region Rt EE D
Hong Kong BB no. of people AL 171 147
Others Hitb no. of people AL - -
By employee category REEERE S
Senior Level = no. of people A & 18 24
Middle Level R no. of people A X 62 53
Entry Level IR no. of people A 91 70
Unit 2023 2022
Occupational Health and Safety BXEREZ2 B —ZE=-= —T_—
Work-related Fatalities BET/HEERNET
Number of cases ESLS ¢ no. of people AL 0 0
Fatality rate T % AL 0% 0%
Work Injury I&
Number of lost days BEAIERH no. of days B & 0 0
Number of reported accidents WMESWAEE no. of cases B & 0 0
Injury rate TiEX % Bt 0% 0%
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PERFORMANCE SUMMARY (continued) ®EBE#®)
Social Responsibility Performance — Employment Practice HE&FFTXRE-ERER (&)

(continued)
Unit 2023 2022
Employee Turnover EERX B —E=-= —E-
By gender RERE S
Male Cop:d % Bk 25% 31%
Female i % B DL 14% 41%
By age group RERERE D
< 20 years old 20B% 3 LA T % Bk - -
21-30 years old 21-3073% % Bt 31% 42%
31-40 years old 31-4075% % B L 22% 33%
41-50 years old 41-50 5% % A7t 9% 29%
51-60 years old 51-60 5% % B 0% 9%
> 60 years old 60BR A £ % BN 0% -
By geographical region Rt EE D
Hong Kong B % At 22% 34%
Others Hit % B - -
Unit 2023 2022
Percentage of Employees Trained ZIZREET DL By —E-= —T-_—
By gender g =By
Male St % At 60% 54%
Female egiid % At 47% 53%
By employee category RESERZE D
Senior Level =R % Bt 22% 27%
Middle Level AR % Bk 45% 36%
Entry Level AR % Bt 71% 74%
Unit 2023 2022
Average Training Hours per Employee S Z{ES M FIFEINGE B —=E=-= —T_—
By gender RERE S
Male Bk hours /NI 3.95 35
Female pegis hours /] i 2.45 3.0
By employee category REEERE S
Senior Level =& hours /] i 9.88 1.5
Middle Level R hours /JNiF 3.46 3.8
Entry Level R hours /JNiF 3.34 34
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RIR - HERE

B E

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX

This report is prepared in accordance with the “Environmental,

Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix C2

to the Rules s Governing the Listing of Securities on the Growth

Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The following tables provide an overview of the general disclosures

and key performance indicators (“KPIs"”) of various aspects under

each subject area, which are either cross-referenced to the relevant

chapters of the Report or supplement the Review with additional

information.

Description

i

RiR - HEREBRABRES

ABEDREBEHEXSHMARRAGEME
F EHRRIMEC2HCGRE - e REAREE
SDEE - TRPEAREZTELBRTAF
BEN-REELERERER (BRERE
Bl YHEIRERBER2RZ SHRIRHM
LEVRRSINHEA -

Remarks

st

Reference

2%

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A BIE

Aspect A1: Emissions

EBEA1: BEHY
General

Disclosure

—RIWE

KPIA1.1
BB AR R
A1

KPI'A1.2

PR AE MIETR
A1.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to air

and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and
nonhazardous waste.

BRABERIAERBEER r‘ﬁj7j<&ii1ﬁfﬂﬂ3?5§‘ : ﬁ
ENEZEEVNELSTN  @QBE: &b
HETABERZENHEBEZ LRI ﬁﬂ

The types of emissions and respective emissions
data.
e iE AR R ARBE BRI BUE -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)

greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where

appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production

volume, per facility).

B (BE) kg REE (BE2) AERBHENE

(L\Aﬂ@ﬁ%)&(ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁ)%E(ﬁﬂu$§$1ﬁ .
AR MRt H) o

Environmental

protection

B

Emissions &
Performance

summary

PR REHE

Emissions &
Performance

summary

B R REHE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BRE #HERER

BRR| @)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2% Bt
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, N/A No hazardous waste
R B IR R where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of N E A produced in the reporting
A13 production volume, per facility). period.
FEABEEEWRE (UEAE) R (NER) & REEHETEELEE
E(mABESEMN BERMBH) © REEY)
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Reducing Waste
AR B BB R and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of and Promoting
Al1.4 production volume, per facility). Recycling
FEAEEEEYAE UEAE) R (WMER)E ROBEYREE
E(MAGESEMN  BERETHE) - ER &
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps Emissions
R AT taken to achieve them. 713,87
A1.5 HI R EBEN B R MR ERZS B IRATEREE
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Reducing Waste
BB AE BUIEAR wastes are handled, and a description of reduction and Promoting
A1.6 target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them. Recycling
HMEEEENBEEEEYN L  THMREN BOBEEY REE
BB RERRERELEAFMENMN TR - (o1 4s 7 A
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)

CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2: EREH

General Policies on the efficient use of resources, including ~ Use of Resources
Disclosure energy, water and other raw materials. BIREA
—MRIXER BRERBIR (BIEEIR K REMRME) BIBEE
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type  Energy Saving
RASR B B 1E (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ‘000s) and & &E
A2.1 intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).
RERABSMERER HHEEER(NE - m3d)
BREUTETRRAZE) RBE (WMAGEEE
i - FERMEAHE) o
KPIA2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per Water Management
AR IS unit of production volume, per facility). FAKER
A2.2 BEKEREZE (MASES S - §BEREE) °
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Energy Saving
R E RS and steps taken to achieve them. Ei A
A2.3 MR ENERERAREEREMAERZSZAR
PREREREY 5%
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing Water Management
R AT water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency RAKER
A2.4 target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
MASKBGERKR - REMNBKREEBRARABE
REZEAEMEME TR LA B EARE o
KPI'A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products  N/A No packaging material
RAIR B WUIE1Z (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per 1~ used for finished products
A2.5 unit produced. during the year.

SR mATABEEMHNAE (AR E) & (WER)
BEESRUGE -

A4 I 48 A B 5

GESER
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1t

BRE #HERER

Reference

2%

BRR| @)

Remarks

ik

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEHA3: BRERAAER

General Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant
Disclosure impacts on the environment and natural resources.

—MRIXER MEETAHRERRAERENEAZENHE

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities

FREBIER on the environment and natural resources and the
A3.1 actions taken to manage them.

A EBEBHRERRAERNEATERD
RREEEETZENTY -

Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EEA4 : RIR#L

General Policies on identification and mitigation of
Disclosure significant climate-related issues which have
— MR impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
BRI REHEER ARG HETAELERENE
ARIRAEFAEEHBEK ©
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues
R E Mg E which have impacted, and those which may impact,
A4.1 the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

HlMBEE R e B ITAEETENERRDE
HBEEE MEYHTE-
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik

B. Employment and Labour Practices

BEERZEIER

Aspect B1: Employment

EBEB1 : EE

General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Employment &
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have Labour Practices

—MR iR EE a significant impact on the issuer relating to EBEESETER

compensation and dismissal, recruitment and
promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.

BRF LR BEREN  THERE - RE -
FERE  Zonlt  REBIAREAMFERENE
@BE : M) BFTHETABEAZENBRE
BERRDINER -

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type Staff Composition
FREBIER (for example, full- or part-time), age group and and turnover
B1.1 geographical region. & Performance
RIS EEEE (DI BEERE) - FRARE  summary
RS D HIES B - BTRBANEEIR
RRABE
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Staff Composition
R AT geographical region. and turnover
B1.2 RMR - FERER R R B S MBS MK E o & Performance
summary
BIBEEEIR
KRB E
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EEB2: #REZE

General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Health and Safety
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a EEREZS
— MR significant impact on the issuer relating to providing

a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
FRRHLZE2IEREMREREREBE LR
W (@QBX RO ETHETATEATEDN
MEER LR PIHEFR -

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred  Health and Safety ~ There were no work-
RRE IR in each of the past three years including the & Performance  related fatalities during
B2.1 reporting year. summary each of the past three
BRBEFEENNBE=FPEFELENAT BEELXSKRKRIHE yearsincluding the
TERIER ML T AR 2 - M reporting year.
BREMEFEEANBE
—FPEFAUREATERM
R T
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety  There was no work injury
R AT EITEEEATIEAH - & Performance  during the year
B2.2 summary FRWETE -
RREEL 2 RKRR
MmE
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety
RRE IR S measures adopted, and how they are implemented 2 FEZ 2
B2.3 and monitored.

L T AR A OB SR B B2 2 1+ DA R AR BRBAT
REB T -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik

Aspect B3: Development and Training
[EEB3 : #&E K&

General Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and Development and
Disclosure skills for discharging duties at work. Description of Training
—RRIEE training activities. BRERE

BERERTEERET TEREMMNEB R RENRE -
A IF A o

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender Development
AREBIERE and employee category (e.g. senior management, and Training &
B3.1 middle management). Performance

EMRIREEEN(PINSREERE PREEE)  summary
EONXIMEERDL - R MIBEIIA R

=REME

KPIB3.2 The average training hours completed per Development
BSR4 BUEE employee by gender and employee category. and Training &
B3.2 RUERREEREMNED - BHEBTKEIIN T Performance

RFEH o summary
TR NI K

REME
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1t

BRE #HERER

Reference

2%

BRR| @)

Remarks

ik

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

[EEB4 : & T XA

General

Disclosure
— R

KPI B4.1
RARE R R
B4.1

KPI B4.2
PR AE IR IR
B4.2

Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have

a significant impact on the issuer relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
BAMIEETHEHSTH : @BK: kb)) ESF
HETABEATENHBEERLMAONER -

Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
R SRR E G B e AR R E T R8T -

Description of steps taken to eliminate such

practices when discovered.

RIRAERRER BN BR A RIS AIRRN TR -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE BE HEREARABRERS (&)
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik

B. Operating Practices

B. & E &

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
BEBS : HEREE

General Policies on managing environmental and social risks  Supply Chain
Disclosure of the supply chain. Management

—MRIXEE EEHEENREIEGRARBR HERER

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain

BB AE BUIEAR B S HEREE - Management
B5.1 g E R

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Supply Chain

R EBIEE suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management
B5.2 are being implemented, and how they are HresEE R

implemented and monitored.
G REEEEN - MERTEBELN
HEBHE  ULEABENNRTRERTE -

KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify Supply Chain
R E IR environmental and social risks along the supply Management
B5.3 chain, and how they are implemented and e R
monitored.

Tt A BE A8 R (B B B EER AT AV IR IR At @ LR
EH - ARBERITRERTE -

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply Chain
R EBIEE environmentally preferable products and services Management
B5.4 when selecting suppliers, and how they are HpEsEE IR

implemented and monitored.
R EREHRERREESZARRER KRB
Pl ARBERITRERF L -
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CONTENT INDEX (continued)

BE HEREABRBTERL @)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik
Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[BEB6 : REEE
General Information on: (a) the policies; and (b) compliance  Service
Disclosure with relevant laws and regulations that have a Responsibility
—RRIEE significant impact on the issuer relating to health R B AF
and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy
matters relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.
FRAMRHAEMMNMRENRFEELZSE BE B8
KL EE A RAROITEN © () BR ¢ K (b)E T
HETABEARENHBEERLMADNER -
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped N/A Recall procedure was not
R EBIEE subject to recalls for safety and health reasons. 56 A applicable to the Company
B6.1 e EXEmEETEL > HERIERAMA due to the business nature.
ER e EER N A EREBMNE - BUWRF
NEABRART] e
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints  N/A No service related
R E IR S received and how they are dealt with. TEH complaints received during
B6.2 BEBNERNMRBOIRFER LR EEH X - the year.
REF RS AR
B e
KPIB6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and Service
MR EBUIER protecting intellectual property rights. Responsibility
B6.3 AT R R A B E RS A IE R RIGEE
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B E

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

CHERER

BR| (@)

Description Reference Remarks
bR 2Z ik
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall ~ Service Recall procedure was not
FAREBIER procedures. Responsibility applicable to the Company
B6.4 i E =BT RE R EREYIZT R B AE due to the business nature.
ENFEBME KRR
THEARAR AT
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and Service
R AR privacy policies, and how they are implemented Responsibility
B6.5 and monitored. AR & £

OB B EERRERALBBE - ARBERTR
ERNE-

Aspect B7: Anti- corruption

BEB7 : RES
General

Disclosure

— R E

KPIB7.1

RS AR IR TR
B7.1

Information on (a) the policies; and (b) compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the issuer relating to bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering.
BRMLARES - B3R - MGFROREEN - (@R
N (o) BT H BT ABEARTZENRBIER MR
B R} o

Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer or its
employees during the reporting period and the
outcomes of the cases.
RBERHHEETAREREBRIEY O FA
SHERTRARIT RV B AR AR R o

ENE

Anti-corruption
RES

N/A
@A

No legal cases regarding
corrupt practices during
the year.
AREFWEYRESITR
HYEREM -
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
CONTENT INDEX (continued)

Description
1t

k } Boltek Holdings Limited * EEZEARBR A A

BRE #HERER

Reference

2%

BRR| @)

Remarks

ik

KPI B7.2
RSB AR IR
B7.2

KPI B7.3
RS AR IR TR
B7.3

B. Community

B.# &

Aspect B8: Community Investment

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented

and monitored.

By E M R B WIZ T - ARBEBRRITRERT

& e

Description of anti-corruption training provided to

directors and staff.

ftmESRE TRENRBBIFI -

[EEBS : HERE

General

Disclosure

— R E

KPI B8.1
PR AE IR IR
B8.1

KPI B8.2
PR 4B IR IR
B8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

BN R2ERTRETACENEHETE
MHEREEXBESGEBILENSNBR

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,

environmental concerns, labour needs, health,

culture, sport).

BIERESE (HE REEE BTHFR BE -

Xie - @A) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the

focus area.

EEIHEMERMNER(MEERERE) -
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SREARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency
and accountability. The Company is committed to achieving and
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance, as our Board
believes that good and effective corporate governance practices
are key to obtaining and maintaining the trust of the shareholders
of the Company and other stakeholders, and are essential for
encouraging accountability and transparency so as to sustain
the success of the Group and to create long-term value for the

shareholders of the Company.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on
the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in
Appendix C1 of the GEM Listing Rules. To the best knowledge of
the Board, except as disclosed herein the Company has complied
with the CG Code during the Year and up to the date of this annual

report.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’ securities
transactions by Directors in respect of the shares of the Company
(the "Code of Conduct”). After specific enquires by the Company,
all Directors have confirmed that they have fully complied with
the required standard of dealings set out in the Code of Conduct
during the Year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is headed by an effective Board which assumes
responsibility for its leadership and control and is collectively
responsible for promoting the Company’s success by directing
and supervising its affairs. Directors make decisions objectively in
the best interests of the Company. The Board meets regularly and

Board meetings are held four times a year at quarterly intervals.

EEERER

ARBIPACEEAZELHEHNEENE - AR
AHMAONERRERRKFHEEER 1T H
REZERR RIEFARHNEEEARTER
REBAABRREEMMEREENETLE
s YARSBEEESEAENERTTE
NEREAREORINE /A RBRREERE

B1E-

ARRMEERER

BCIAEMNEREATA ((REERT

BEEGMAM
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

The code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. The division of
responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive should
be clearly established.

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar currently assumes the role of both chairman
of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company. The
Board considers that both roles being held by Mr. Cheung will
provide a strong and consistent leadership to the Company which
will facilitate effective planning and efficient management of the
Company. Furthermore, having considered Mr. Cheung’s extensive
experience in the engineering industry, the relationships Mr.
Cheung has built with customers and the historical development
of the Group, the Board considers that it is beneficial for the
Group to have Mr. Cheung continue to act as both chairman and
chief executive officer of the Company. In order to maintain good
corporate governance and fully comply with the code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code, the Board will regularly review the need to
appoint different individuals to perform the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer separately.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company is committed to the view that the Board should
include a balanced composition of executive and non-executive
Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) so
that there is an independent element on the Board, which can
effectively exercise independent judgement, and that non-
executive Directors should be of sufficient calibre and number for
their views to carry weight.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises the following five
Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar

(chairman of the Board and chief executive officer)
Mr. Ng Pak Hung

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam

Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion

Ms. Chik Wai Chun

Biographical details of each Director and relationship between
Board members are set out on page 9 to page 12 of this annual

report.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND EERZEENENEHERSE
COMMITTEE MEMBERS
The attendance record of each Director at the Board and Board &ESERAFERITHNALNRESTSNEERTELE

committee meetings of the Company held during the Year is set & & &) E 8k &N Tk
out in the table below:

Number of meetings held during the Year
Attended/Eligible to attend
B/ RERHEERFFERTHERRR

Annual
Board Audit Nomination Remuneration General
Meeting Committee Committee Committee Meeting

ESg88 2 ENZEE REZEE FMZEEE RREFAE

Number of meetings held BIMEERY 5 4 1 2 1
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar REERE 5/5 N/AT i A 11 2/2 11
Mr. Ng Pak Hung RIEBILAE 5/5 N/ATiE A N/ATiE A N/ATiE A 171

Independent non-executive ~ BUHHTEE

Directors
Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam BRINAR A 5/5 4/4 1/1 212 1/1
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion BRER L& 5/5 4/4 1/1 212 1/1
Ms. Chik Wai Chun REY L 5/5 4/4 N/AT i A N/ATE A 171

During the Year, the Company held 5 Board meetings, 4 Audit RAFE  AAFRCEBRIREFTEEHE 41
Committee meetings, 1 Nomination Committee meeting and 2 BZZECC€Z 1 AIRZZECHER2AEH
Remuneration Committee meetings. All the minutes of the Board MZEg@e@ FEESegRMEFTLZEETETEN
meetings and meetings of Board committees were recorded in  FIEE@E LN ENEZTEEZ N FIE REKD
sufficient details for the matters considered by the Board and the  JRTE 1B R HFF 40 8% ©

decisions reached.

The biographical details of each of the Directors are set out inthe ZEBZEMBEEFBINARS(ESLSRE

section headed “Directors and Senior Management” of this report.  ¥E/E | —£f ©
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS (continued)

In compliance with Rules 5.05(1), 5.05(2) and 5.05A of the GEM
Listing Rules, the Company has appointed three independent
non-executive Directors representing more than one-third of the
Board and at least one of whom has appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The independent non-executive Directors have brought
in a wide range of business and financial expertise, experiences and
independent judgement to the Board. Through active participation
in the Board meetings and serving on various Board committees,
all independent non-executive Directors have made various

contributions to the Company.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such independent non-executive Director to
be independent in accordance with the guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other

material/relevant relationships with each other.

Appropriate insurance coverage in respect of legal action against

the Company’s Directors has been arranged by the Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL

In accordance with the Articles, all the Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any new
Director appointed by the Board (i) to fill a casual vacancy in the
Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company following his/her appointment and shall be subject to re-
election at such meeting; and (ii) as an addition to the Board shall
hold office until the next following annual general meeting of the

Company (“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

The Board supervises the management of the business and
affairs of the Company and ensures that it is managed in the
best interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
The Board is primarily responsible for formulating the business
strategy, reviewing and monitoring the business performance
of the Company, approving the financial statements and annual
budgets as well as directing and supervising the management of
the Company. Execution of operational matters and the powers
thereof are delegated to the management by the Board with clear
directions. The Board is regularly provided with management
update report to give a balanced and understandable assessment
of the performance, position, development and prospects of the

Company in sufficient detail.

The Board is also responsible for the corporate governance

functions of the Group, which includes:

—  To develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;

- Toreview and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;

—  To review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and

compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

and

—  To review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and

disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the Year, the Board had reviewed and discussed the
corporate governance policy of the Group and was satisfied with

the effectiveness of the corporate governance policy of the Group.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) assists the Board by ensuring the Board policy
and procedures are followed. The Company Secretary is also
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance

matters.

The Company has appointed Mr. Yu Chun Kit as the Company

Secretary.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, Mr. Yu Chun Kit undertook
no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training to update
his skill and knowledge in accordance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The biographical details of Mr. Yu Chun Kit is set out
in the section headed "Directors and Senior Management” of this

annual report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To facilitate the work of the Board, the Board has established
three Board committees to oversee specific aspects of the Group’s
affairs, namely the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee. Each Board committee has its own terms
of reference relating to its authority and duties, which have been
approved by the Board and are reviewed periodically. The terms of
reference of each committee are available on the websites of the

Company and the Stock Exchange.

Each Board committee has also been provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and, upon reasonable request,
is able to seek independent profession advice in appropriate

circumstances at the Group's expense.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Group established the Audit Committee on 20 August 2018
with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of our Audit Committee
include, among others, (a) making recommendations to our Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditor and approving the remuneration and terms of engagement
of the external auditor; (b) reviewing our financial statements, our
periodic reports and accounts and significant financial reporting
judgements contained therein; and (c) reviewing our financial
controls, internal control and risk management systems. Our Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Ms. Chik Wai Chun, Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr. Chan
Kai Kow Macksion. Ms. Chik Wai Chun is the chairlady of our Audit

Committee.

During the Year, the Audit Committee held 4 meetings, at which it
has reviewed and discussed the Company’s audited consolidated
financial results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
unaudited consolidated financial results for the quarterly period
ended 31 March 2023, and 30 September 2023 and the interim
period ended 30 June 2023 including the accounting principles and
practice adopted by the Group, the Company’s compliance with
the CG Code and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report,
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems as well as the Group's internal audit function. The
Audit Committee has also recommended to the Board to consider
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited ("Grant
Thornton”) as the Company'’s external independent auditors at the
AGM held on 5 May 2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Group established the Nomination Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph
A.5.2 of the CG Code. The primary duties of our Nomination
Committee include, among others, (a) reviewing the structure, size
and composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of our Board at least annually and making recommendations on
any proposed changes to our Board to complement our corporate
strategy; (b) identifying individuals suitably qualified to become
members of our Board and selecting or making recommendations
to our Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships; (c) assessing the independence of our independent
non-executive Directors; and (d) making recommendations to
our Board on the appointment and succession planning for our
Directors. Our Nomination Committee comprises two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam and Mr.
Chan Kai Kow Macksion, and one executive Director, namely Mr.
Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Cheung is the chairman of our Nomination

Committee.

The policy for the nomination of Directors, including the nomination
procedure and process, are to invite nominations from Board
members or Nomination Committee members. After undertaking
adequate due diligence in respect of any such nominee, the
Nomination Committee makes recommendations for the Board's
consideration and approval. In the context of re-appointment of
any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee
makes recommendations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation, for the proposed candidates to stand for re-

election at a general meeting.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)
The Nomination Committee considers the following criteria in

assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:
(@) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the relevant

industry and other relevant sectors;

(c) commitment in respect of sufficient time, interest and

attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, experience

(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make

significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(f)  compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed
under Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules for the appointment
of an independent non-executive Director; and

(9) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the

Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held 1 meeting, during
which it reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board,
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and recommended to the Board for consideration the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors at the AGM held on 5 May
2023.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Board diversity policy

The Board has adopted a policy of the Board diversity (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board.

Under the Board Diversity Policy, the Company considers diversity
of board members to be achieved through consideration of a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills and knowledge. All Board appointments are based on merit,
and candidates are considered against objective criteria, having
due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. As of date of
this report, the Board comprises one female director and four male
directors with experience from difference industries and sectors.
We also committed to adopting similar approach to promote
diversity, including but not limited to gender diversity, at all other
levels of our Company from our Board downwards to enhance the

effectiveness of our corporate governance as a whole.

The gender ratios in the workforce by categories of employees
are set out in the section headed "EMPLOYMENT & LABOUR
PRACTICES” in the Environment, Social and Governance Report
in the Annual Report. The Board considers that gender diversity is
currently achieved and iss committed to maintain gender diversity

in respect of the workforce level.
The Nomination Committee has reviewed the Board Diversity

Policy to ensure its effectiveness and considered that the Group

achieved the objectives of its Board Diversity Policy for the Year.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Group established the Remuneration Committee on 20 August
2018 with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 5.35
of the GEM Listing Rules and paragraph B.1.2 of the CG Code. The
primary duties of our Remuneration Committee, under the principle
that no Director or any of his associates should be involved in
deciding his own remuneration include, among others, making
recommendations to our Board on (a) our remuneration policy
and structure for all of our Directors and senior management;
(b) the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policies; (c) the remuneration packages
of our executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments,
including any compensation payable for loss or termination of
their offices or appointments; and (d) the remuneration of our non-
executive Directors. Our Remuneration Committee comprises two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum
Sam and Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and one executive Director
namely Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam is the

chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings,
during which it reviewed and considered the specific remuneration

packages and discretionary bonus of the executive Directors.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
three years and such letter of appointment may be terminated by
either party giving at least one month’s notice in writing. Also, the
independent non-executive Directors are subject to re-election on

retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of their independence
pursuant to the requirements of the Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing
Rules. The Company considers all independent non-executive
Directors namely Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam, Mr. Chan Kai Kow
Macksion and Ms. Chik Wai Chun to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules

for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND CONTINUING
PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director receives a formal, comprehensive
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment
to ensure that he has a proper understanding of the Company’s
operations and business and is fully aware of a director’s
responsibilities under applicable statues and common law, the
GEM Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory requirements and
the Company’s business and governance policies. The Company
will from time to time provide briefings to all Directors to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills relating to their duties and

responsibilities.

All Directors are also encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company's expense and they are requested to
provide the Company with their training records. According to the
training records maintained by the Company, all Directors, namely
Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar, Mr. Ng Pak Hung, Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam,
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion and Ms. Chik Wai Chun had attended
training sessions on obligations, duties and responsibilities of

directors during the Year.
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HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Company has established and maintained the procedures
and internal controls for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. The Company has adopted a code of conduct for
dealing in securities of the Company by the Directors in accordance
with Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Other employees
of the Group who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company are also subject to dealing restrictions. The Group
has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of confidential or inside
information or any use of such information for the advantage of
any individual. Inside information and other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules will be
announced on the respective websites of Stock Exchange and the

Company in due course.

REMUNERATION OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

During the Year, the remuneration bands of senior management is

listed as follows:

Band of remuneration (HK$)

BEERBMAFTHEE

ARRIEHIET B R R IE MM AR BENIEF
K REBEE - RABIERIEGEM LR A 5.46
ES567 R EFTETARAEFRHRA—ELT
ASFRI e REEA R AR B AN AT BERF B AR AIHY
NBEBETMAZGINEERS - AEEBERE
RRERARTHABHEL  AREMEAFEM
ERAEBER - ARHEE RRIEGEM LR A
BT DA ER B0 LA BRI 0 B B IR A B X AT I
ZAYNEIE=3= =0 EED A A P

= AR E I B
RAFEE  SREEBNFMEESIRAT

No. of person(s)

FiEE(Ex) AB
HK$0 to HK$1,000,000 078 7L % 1,000,000 7T 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 78 7L £ 1,500,000 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7% 7T % 2,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7 7T £ 2,500,000 7% 7T 1

Further details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5
highest paid employees are set out in note 12 to the consolidated

financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Group. The Directors also acknowledge
their responsibility to ensure the financial statements are published
in a timely manner. The Directors are not aware of any material
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability

to continue as a going concern.

EREERIEREFEENFMNE - THT
FRRAMBERRME 12

ESURSHBERRNEM
EENENEAAERUEAKRENYHRE - &
ETAERSAARERIFTRMHHRES - &

EWRMBMEM AT E A RBER AL L NEK
ERREANEATHBERE -
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

The statement of the external independent auditor of the Company
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report as annexed to this report.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The Company engaged Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited as its
external auditor for the Year. During the Year, the fee paid/payable
to the external independent auditors of the Company and its

affiliates is as follows:

ESHGAMBERERNEE @)

ARRBINEB L Z BN LY AR B E M 55
KRB EBTRRNBARNA RS B LZ
BIAD 3RS

BIYZEMHE

AARRAFEZENR (BF) TR AT
BERAFMEAHINEZERN - RAFE X B,/
JE 2N A RISNEE T ST A% BT I LB A R B
B NE

Description HK$
i BT
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited WA (BB gsrmEBRERA A

Annual audit services FREEZRS 800,000
Grand total At 800,000

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and
review of the Group's risk management and internal control systems
and review of their effectiveness. The Board must ensure that the
Company establishes and maintains effective risk management and
internal control systems to meet the objectives and safeguard the

interests of the shareholders and the assets of the Company.

The Board oversees the Group’s overall risk management and
internal control systems on an ongoing basis. At the same time, the
Group endeavours to identify risks, control impact of the identified
risks and facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating

measures.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

In the course of conducting the business, the Group is exposed
to various types of risks. During the Year, the following principal
risks of the Group were identified and classified into strategic risks,

operational risks, financial risks and compliance risks.

Strategic Risks:
Sensitivity to government policies and budgets; keeping up with

new technologies; market competition risk, reputation risk.

Operational Risks:

Insufficient labour supply; workplace injury; disruption of IT system

Financial Risks:

Liquidity risk; credit risk; interest rate risk; inflation risk

Compliance Risks:

Risk related to occupational safety and health; risk of non-
compliance with ordinances related to employment; changes
of the GEM Listing Rules and relevant company regulations and

ordinances

The Group does not have an internal audit department but the
Group has conducted an annual review on whether there is a
need for such an internal audit department. Given the Group’s
relatively simple corporate and operation structure, the Board,
as supported by the Audit Committee, is directly responsible
for risk management and internal control systems of the Group
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk

management functions and for reviewing its effectiveness.

AR EERAIPIES (&)
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group's risk management and internal control system features
the following processes to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks, and review the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems, as well as resolve material internal control
defects:

e Members of the Board and Audit Committee discuss with the
external independent auditor key issues in relation to internal

controls, audit findings and risk management;

e The Board and Audit Committee oversee the financial
reporting system and internal control procedures; in this
process, management is principally responsible for the
preparation of Group financial statements including the

selection of suitable accounting policies;

e  The external independent auditor is responsible for auditing
and attesting to Group financial statements and report to
the management of the Company from time to time on
any weakness in controls which come to their attention; the
Board and Audit Committee oversee the respective work of
management and external auditors to ensure the management
has discharged its duty in respect of having an effective

internal control procedures.

During the Year, the Board had engaged an external consultant,
CT Partners Consultants Limited, to conduct a review of the
effectiveness of the internal control system which covered certain
procedures in material controls, including financial, operational and
compliance controls and risk management functions of the Group.
The Board considered the risk management and internal controls

systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the Year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
(continued)

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
aimed to manage, rather than eliminating, the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and thus can only provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The Board has the overall responsibility to maintain the adequate
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs

and the budget accounting and financial reporting.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to the Articles, and the applicable legislation and
regulation, in particular the GEM Listing Rules (as amended from
time to time), the Board may, whenever it thinks fit, convene
an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"). EGMs shall also be
convened on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding,
at the date of deposit of requisition, not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board or the company secretary of the Company for the purpose of
requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of

any business specified in such requisition.

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting,
signed by the requisitionist(s) and deposit it to the Board or
the company secretary of the Company by mail at 5/F, Winning
Commercial Building, 46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui,
Kowloon, Hong Kong to require an EGM to be called by the Board
for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition.
Such requisition should specify clearly the name of the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned, his/her/their shareholding, the reason(s)
to convene an EGM and the details of the business(es) proposed
to be transacted in the EGM, and must be signed by the eligible
shareholder(s) concerned together with a sum of money reasonably
sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice
of the resolution and circulating the statement submitted
by shareholders concerned in accordance with the statutory

requirements to all the registered shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS (continued)

Procedures for Convening General Meetings by
Shareholders (continued)

The requisition will be verified with Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer office of the Company and upon their
confirmation that the requisition is proper and in order, the Board
will convene an EGM by serving sufficient notice in accordance
with the requirements under the Articles to all the registered
shareholders. On the contrary, if the requisition has been verified as
not in order or the shareholders concerned have failed to deposit
sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses for the said
purposes, the eligible shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of

this outcome and accordingly, the Board will not call for an EGM.

If, within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
Shareholders’ Meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles
for including a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and
procedures are set out above in the paragraph headed "“Procedures

for Convening General Meetings by Shareholders”.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board

The Group values feedback from shareholders on its efforts to
promote transparency and foster investor relationship. Shareholders
are encouraged to send their enquiries to the Board by post to the
principal place of business set out in the section headed “Corporate
Information” in this report. Shareholders may also make enquires

with the Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board strives to maintain on-going dialogue with shareholders
and the investment community. The Company has established
a shareholders communication policy to set out the Company'’s
procedures in providing the shareholders and investment
community with ready, equal and timely access to balanced and

understandable information about the Company.

Latest information on the Group including, but not limited to,
annual, interim and quarterly reports, circulars, announcements,
and notices of AGMs are updated on the website of the Stock
Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and on the website of the Company

(www.boltekholdings.com).

In addition, the Company regards the AGM as an important event
as it provides an opportunity for direct communication between the
Board and its shareholders. Shareholders are encouraged to attend
the AGM.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company has adopted shareholders’ communication policy
with objective of ensuring that the shareholders and potential
investors are provided with ready, equal and timely access to

balanced and understandable information about the Company.

The Company has established several channels to communicate

with the shareholders of the Company as follows:

()  corporate communications such as annual reports, quarterly
reports, interim reports and circulars are issued in printed
form and are available on the Stock Exchange’s website
at “www.hkexnews.hk” and the Company's website at

"www.boltekholdings.com”;

(I periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of the

Stock Exchange and the Company;

() corporate information is made available on the Company's

website;
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS (continued)

(IV) annual and special general meetings provide a forum for the
shareholders to make comments and exchange views with the

Directors and senior management; and

(V) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves the
shareholders in respect of share registration, dividend

payment and related matters.

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and enhancing
communication with the existing shareholders and potential
investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors, stakeholders and
the public. Enquires to the Board or the Company may be sent by

post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT

The ESG report are set out on page 21 to page 64 of this annual

report.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There were no changes in the constitutional documents of
the Company during the Year. The Articles is available on the

respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

The Board is pleased to submit this annual report together with
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the

Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal business activity of the Company is that of investment
holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
Company's principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the

consolidated financial statements.

REORGANISATION AND SHARE OFFER

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company
in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 18 April 2018.
Its shares were listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange on 13
September 2018. Pursuant to the reorganisation of the Group in
connection with the Listing, the Company underwent a corporate
reorganisation (the “Reorganisation”), and the Company became
the holding company of the Group on 10 August 2018. Details
of the Reorganisation are set out in the section headed "History,
Reorganisation and Corporate Structure — Reorganisation” to the
Prospectus dated 29 August 2018.

DIRECTORS

The name of every person who was a Director at any point during

the Year and up to date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar (Executive Director)
Mr. Na Pak Hung (Executive Director)

Mr. Chan Yu Sum Sam (Independent non-executive Director)
Mr. Chan Kai Kow Macksion (Independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chik Wai Chun (Independent non-executive Director)

In accordance with Article 108 of the Articles, Mr. Cheung Kwan
Tar, Mr. Ng Pak Hung and Ms. Chik Wai Chun will retire from the
Board by rotation at the forthcoming AGM and, being eligible,

offer themselves for re-election.
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DIRECTORS (continued)

The biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Company are set out in the section headed

"Directors and Senior Management” of this report.

RESULTS/BUSINESS REVIEW

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 101 of this report.
The business review of the Group for the Year, which includes
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, an analysis
using financial key performance indicators of the Group's business,
particulars of important events affecting the Group, an indication of
likely future developments in the Group’s business, and discussion
on the Company’s environmental policies and performance and
the relationships with its stakeholders, can be found in the sections
headed “Chairman’s Statement”, “Management Discussion and
Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report”, “Environmental, Social
and Governance Report” and “Independent Auditor's Report” of

this annual report. The review forms part of this directors’ report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years, as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements, is set out on page 204 of
this annual report. This summary does not form part of the audited

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 13 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

A statement of the reserves available for distribution to
shareholders of the Company as at 31 December 2023 is set out in
the “"Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity” and note 26 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the

dividend amount, the Board takes into account, inter alia:
(i)  the general financial condition of the Group;
(i) capital and debt level of the Group;

(i) future cash requirements and availability for business
operations, business strategies and future development

needs;

(iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed

by the Group's lenders;
(v)  the general market conditions; and
(vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
any other applicable laws, rule and regulations and the Articles. The
dividend policy of the Company will be reviewed by the Board from
time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be

proposed or declared in any specific period.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any
final dividend for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S SECURITIES

The Board confirms that during the Year, neither the Company nor
any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the

Company's securities.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or
the Laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company

to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine entitlement to attend and vote at the
forthcoming AGM, the register of members of the Company will be
closed from Tuesday, 23 April 2024 to Friday, 26 April 2024, both
days inclusive, during which no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In the case of shares of the Company, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must
be lodged for registration with the Company’s Hong Kong branch
share registrar and transfer office, Boardroom Share Registrars (HK)
Limited at 2103B, 21/F, 148 Electric Road, North Point, Hong Kong
no later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 26 April 2024.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 August
2018 (the “Adoption Date"”). The terms of the Share Option
Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 23 of
the GEM Listing Rules. The following is a summary of the principal
terms of the Share Option Scheme:

(A) Purpose of Share Option Scheme
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide
incentives or rewards to eligible persons for their contribution
to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain
high-calibre employees and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which the Group holds
any equity interest (“Invested Entity”).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
(B) Participants of the Share Option Scheme

)

Any employee (whether full time or part time employee,
including any executive Director) of our Company, any of

its subsidiaries and any Invested Entity;

Any non-executive Director (including independent
non-executive Director) of our Company, any of its

subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

Any supplier of goods or services to any member of our
Group or any Invested Entity;

Any customer of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity;

Any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of our

Group or any Invested Entity;

Any shareholder of any member of our Group or any
Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by

any member of our Group or any Invested Entity;

Any adviser (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any

member of our Group or any Invested Entity; and

Any other group or classes of participants who have
contributed or may contribute, by way of joint venture,
business alliance, other business arrangement or
otherwise, to the development and growth of our Group,
and for the purposes of the Share Option Scheme, the
option may be granted to any company wholly-owned
by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes of participants or any discretionary object of a

participant which is a discretionary trust.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

(&)

(D)

(E)

(F)

(G)

90

Total number of shares available for Issue under the
Share Option Scheme

Under the Share Option Scheme, the total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all share
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in the
Company in issue on the Listing Date, being 80,000,000 shares
in the Company.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Participant under the
Share Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme in any 12-month period up to and including
the date of grant of the options must not exceed 1% of the

total number of shares in the Company in issue.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up
under an Option

The period during which an option may be exercised is
determined by the Board at its discretion, save that such
period shall not be longer than 10 years from the date of

grant.

Minimum period for which an Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by our Board and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, there is no minimum
period required under the Share Option Scheme for the

holding of an option before it can be exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance of an option and the
Period within which payments shall be made

A consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of the
offer of grant of an option. An option may be offered for
acceptance for a period of 21 days from the date on which the

letter containing the offer is delivered to that participant.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) fERESTE ()

(H) Basis of determining the Exercise Price (H BETHEENEE
The exercise price in respect of any particular option shall, AR 4R B AR A 51 B 16 SR &Y E (] 38 B
subject to any adjustment made pursuant to the terms of the A EERENTEERAERSE
Share Option Scheme, be such price as determined by our EWMER WEFABRATELERUT &
Board, but in any case shall not be less than the highest of (i) mE(RREBREBR (AR SHH)
the closing price of the shares in the Company as stated in R AMERAWMARBRMWAE : (i)
the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet on the date of REEREEREBBIAER S BB
the grant of the option, which must be a business day; (i) the FiE B mEXRABAR TR FHKRTE
average closing price of the shares in the Company as stated R (i) A HEE R A AR RGO A EE ©

in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the grant
of the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share in the

Company on the date of grant of the option.

() Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme () BBRESTEAFERER
The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a BREGEISERAMBPRI0FHEANE
period of 10 years commencing on the Adoption Date. R AR
As of the report date, no share option has been granted, HERSHH - BRABEE - WEERKR
exercised, cancelled, or lapsed under the Share Option PERER H 1T FEEHER AR o

Scheme since the Adoption Date.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS % 1R 4 88 17 R

Save for the Share Option Scheme, no equity-linked agreements  FREEARMEETEIHD - AN A B F AR FT 2 (] B 1
were entered into by the Company during the Year or subsisted at ~ #MAE - IMEERIIREEMAGENFRDATTE -
the end of the Year.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION BiIER %
The Directors are not aware of any tax relief or exemption available HEEFFTA - MEBRRAFTBE AR R FHFMES
to the shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s LRI FLTER % °

securities.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentage of sales and purchases for the Year attributable to

the Group's major customers and suppliers are as follows:

FEEFRHERS
rEEFERFRHERNEBEFNHEEREED
DR

%
SALES HE
— The largest customer —HmAKP 14.3
— Five largest customers —HEREP 39.8
PURCHASES 2
— The largest supplier — R AHEER 32.6
— Five largest suppliers —h KHEER 68.7

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholders (which
to the best knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company's share capital) had an interest in the major customers or

suppliers noted above.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, details of significant transactions with the
Company’s related parties or transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are set out in the note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements. None of those transactions constitutes a
disclosable connected transaction pursuant to Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

ISSUANCE OF SHARES

During the Year, no new Shares were issued by the Company.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the Year, no debentures were issued by the Company.

92  Annual Report 3 2023

MEEE HBBASIRESAANEEALQA
BRAEIBSNEMERN LA T BT FRMEE
B s

HBAIRXEREERS

RER - BRRFEBRITNEARSINBEEER
BREPETHRINFBTHARGZE P BEHRERM
29 RIBEGEM EHARAF20E - ZFERXHH
THKETHRERERS -

RITRAD
RAFE  RRBAJBEITHR -

RITEEE
RAFEE AR B BT E T -



DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance ("SFO")) which were notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and
8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the
SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required, pursuant to the required standard of dealings as referred
to in Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules, to be notified to the

Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

I.  Long position in the ordinary shares of the Company

Name of Director Nature of interest

Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

B EREMER

EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
EERED - AEROIEEZNEER KR

RZZEZ=F+=-A=+—H EBFRARAZE
ZITBRABRARRSHE A (B EZE (EXR
BERAEGL ((BERBERG]) EXVED &
K- BERNDREEZFHRERBESRLAE
IRBIZEXVERSE 7 RE 8D B A E AR E) KB
R R EAE (BEREZES REAE KR
BRBXHEFIWEERERNERIAR) -
NN AR FIRIEZES KB E P2 3521&78
HENECLMNER AR  HBRBEGEM L™
RBIESAGIGFTIEN R 5L FREEAMG AR QT
KB R FTaEm RAB T

. REQARAEBERNETR
Number of shares Percentage of

held/interested shareholding

i EEERN
EEHE EEME RHEE BEED
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note) 541,200,000 67.65%

SREFIE RREEE R (FEE)

Note: These shares were held by Waywin Investment Holding Limited

(“Waywin"), a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar.

ME ZERMBRFELENTRZIABEREER
BRAR(TRBRDEFHE -
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND OTHER
INFORMATION (continued)

Directors’ and Chief Executive’s Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, The Underlying Shares or
Debentures of the Company and its Associated
Corporations (continued)

Il. Long position in the ordinary shares of associated

corporation — Waywin

B EREMER @)
EERIRTHRABREAQAREAB X
Ea KRG HERONEERNRERLR
(%)

I REBEIE-BREBRNFAE

Number of shares Percentage of
Name of Director Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
IE= Vg op -3
E=pE EatE igrig 4= READL
Cheung Kwan Tar Beneficial owner 1 100%
SRETE BamER A

Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors nor the chief executive of the Company had any interests
or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO.

94  Annual Report 3 2023

B EXFEBREEN RCE-_=F+-_A=+—
H MEEELAQRANEBTHRAERARF
S E A AR (TE LESFRBEKRMEXV
) BTG - BB EEER AL
RARBRIEFEH KRB E GO 3521&BHEFH
B EmEEoRR -



Boltek Holdings Limited * B #HZEARBR AR

DIRECTORS' REPORT
EEGHRE

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS TERRRHEMATRARTRG KA
AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT BARONERRAR

POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, AND UNDERLYING

SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023, the following parties (other thanthe R-ZT-_=ZF+-_A=Z+—H U TAL(E=S
Directors or the chief executive of the Company) had interests of 5% AR T EEITIHA BBRIN IR R TR+
or more in the shares of the Company as recorded in the register ~BEER AR RIREE F K HIE & 0) 5% 336 14678
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the 17 HYZ FE M H9 5% sk LA - B9 25

SFO:

Name of substantial Number of shares Percentage of
shareholder Nature of interest held/interested shareholding
g EEREEN
TERRESR BB ERME RHEAE BETD
Cheung Kwan Tar Interest in a controlled corporation (Note 1) 541,200,000 67.65%
RAFIE AP A E R (FEE)
Chiu Chui Ping Interest of spouse (Note 2) 541,200,000 67.65%
TR Ao B (EE2)
Waywin Investment Holding Beneficial owner 541,200,000 67.65%
Limited
(BB AR A A Em#EAA
Cheng Chi Heng Beneficial owner 58,800,000 7.35%
] EmEE A
Notes: BeE -
(1) These shares were held by Waywin, a controlled corporation of Mr. Cheung (1) ZERMDAREELENTEAEREEE -
Kwan Tar.

(2)  Ms. Chiu Chui Ping was deemed to be interested in 426,000,000 shares of the  (2) MMEFLZLTHEAPBERBREELENEXSTMESR
Company through the interest of her spouse, Mr. Cheung Kwan Tar. 7R X T 426,000,000 B B 1 B0 i AR e

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company R EXAFIBEREIIN R _=F+=-H=+—
is not aware of any other person (other than the Directors or chief ~H » AR AW A AEBE A EMA L (EERAR
executive of the Company) who had an interest or short position in &£ 24T A 8RN R AR 7] % 15 sk 48 B8 I (0
the shares or underlying shares of the Company as recorded inthe H#EBABLRHR A ARIRIBEES LAE KA E
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of 336 {&BEETF N E LM SAR -

the SFO.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All executive Directors currently in office have entered into
service agreements with the Company for a term of three years
commencing from the Listing Date and shall continue unless
terminated by either party giving no less than three months’ written

notice served by either party on the other.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into
an appointment letter with the Company for an initial term of three
years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be terminated
by either party giving no less than one month’s written notice
served by either party on the other.

The term of service of a Director is subject to retirement by rotation

of Directors as set out in the Articles.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors who are proposed
to be re-elected at the forthcoming AGM has entered into a service
contract or an appointment letter with our Company or any of our
subsidiaries (other than contracts or appointment letters expiring or
determinable by the employer within one year without the payment

of compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ emoluments are subject to the Company’s
shareholders’ approval at general meetings and such emoluments
shall be determined by the Board and the Remuneration
Committee with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group. Details of remuneration
of the Directors are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee in
compliance with the GEM Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to
the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors
and senior management’s remuneration, on the establishment of
a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy, and on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management, including benefits
in kind, pension rights and compensation payments including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of office or

appointment.

Under the remuneration policy of the Company, the Remuneration
Committee considers factors such as salaries paid by comparable
companies, time commitment, responsibilities and employment

conditions elsewhere in the Group.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid
individuals are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial

statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
The Articles provide that the Directors shall be indemnified and

secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason
of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution
of their duty; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any

matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty by any of the Directors.

A directors’ liability insurance is in place to protect the Directors
against potential costs and liabilities arising from claims brought

against the Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of the continuing connected transactions and related party
transactions are set out in the Corporate Governance Report and

note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transaction, arrangement or
contract that is significant in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a person who at any time during the Year was a Director or
his connected entity had, directly or indirectly, a material interest

subsisted at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Except for the Share Option Scheme, neither the Company nor any
of its subsidiary undertakings was a party to any arrangements to
enable Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body

corporate at any time during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract, other than employment contracts, concerning the
management and administration of the whole or any substantial
part of the Company’s business was entered into or existed during
the Year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER'S INTEREST IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Neither contract of significance made between the Company
or any of its subsidiaries and the controlling shareholder of the
Company or any of it subsidiaries, nor contract of significance
made for the provision of services to the Company or any of its
subsidiaries by the controlling shareholder of the Company or any

of its subsidiaries was entered into during the Year.
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INTEREST IN COMPETING INTERESTS

None of the Directors, the controlling shareholders of the
Company, or any of their respective close associates (as defined
in the GEM Listing Rules) is interested in a business apart from the
Group's business which competes or is likely to compete, directly
or indirectly, with the Group’s business during the Year, and is
required to be disclosed pursuant to rule 11.04 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKINGS

Each of controlling shareholders of the Company, Mr. Cheung and
Waywin has confirmed to the Company of their respective due
compliance with the terms of the deed of non-competition (the
"Deed of Non-Competition”) during the Year and up to the date
of this report.

Our independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
compliance of the Deed of Non-Competition and were satisfied
that the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition had been duly
complied with and enforced during the Year and up to the date of

this report.

During the Year, the Board had not received any written
confirmation from any of our Directors in respect of interest in any
business (other than our Group) which is or is likely to be directly or

indirectly in competition with our business.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge of
the Directors, the Company maintained a sufficient amount of

public float for its shares as required under the GEM Listing Rules.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group fully complies with all laws and regulations and regularly
monitors and gathers information about changes in laws, rules
and regulations relevant to the Group's businesses to ensure the
Group's observance of those applicable laws, rules and regulations,

especially those which may have material impact on the Group.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
Grant Thornton, who will retire at the end of the forthcoming AGM,
and being eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Grant Thornton as the independent auditor
of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

By Order of the Board
Boltek Holdings Limited
Cheung Kwan Tar

Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB RS

a GrantThornton
=]

To the members of Boltek Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Boltek
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together,
the "Group”) set out on pages 109 to 203, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,

including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance (“CO").

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BB R

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key Audit Matter
BRgETEE

BRREETER
RREAFEEREBEESNEXHE  RREX
PRaPBHRRANEARSEENFTH - RFF
HREBSERERGEAMBBRRLLARRR
ETREN MBS TEHELEREHERN
BRe

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENBTNMEERRENSE

Revenue from engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy services

ITRRE  SBREREEREHKE

Refer to notes 2.14, 4.1 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BRI A TSR 7214 4.1 K5 °

The Group recognised revenue and cost from the provision of
engineering design, landscape architecture and consultancy
services of approximately HK$170,406,000 and HK$110,056,000
respectively during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Revenue from engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy services are recognised by reference to contract
costs incurred at the reporting date for work performed as a
percentage of total forecast contract costs at the end of the
reporting period. The Group recognised revenue over time
only if it can reasonably measure its progress toward complete

satisfaction of the performance obligation.

REBEE-_ZT_=F+-_A=+—HILFE  E£E®ERIE
HIRELXS SEEENBERRENWZE RKARD BIH A
170,406,000 7t & 110,056,000 7% 7T °

K ETIRR  SBRERBERNRENLSTISEREE B D
B A R A SR B E AN BRAA ORABEOE S L
%R REEEERABHBAREEIROBHORLNS
RS -
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Our procedures in relation to assess the revenue
from engineering design, landscape architecture

and consultancy services included the following:

— understood management’s process in
estimating the contract revenue and forecast
contract costs and determining the contract

progress;

EpaTh TI2RGT - SBEEMERRB S
W&T@%MTﬁﬁi

- BEREEREGAAOKRSENRBERASORER
EERAERENBRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) FERETEE &)

Key Audit Matter
BREESER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EENETNMEREBRETSE

The contract progress requires the management'’s estimation
of the actual outcome in terms of total contract costs, which
requires the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in relation to the estimation of total forecast contract
costs and the recoverable variation works. These estimates are
also made based on past experience and knowledge of the

project management.

We have identified the revenue recognition related to
engineering design, landscape architecture and consultancy
services as a key audit matter, considering the extent of

management judgement exercised.

BHEEZREEBREBEARABRAGEERER  ERET
EEK%‘E@E%J@ 5 Bl R Bk 5 IEDRI A& R 4K S Ko AT Wi [o]
ETRAM ZFHETRBBENRR BELRIABEMESL

REBEEEMHEREER RMAESEIRERN RBEER
BE RS EEO WA REREE SRRETSE -

discussed with the management about the
performance and status of contracts, on
a sample basis, to obtain explanations for
fluctuations in gross profit margin and changes
in the budgeted cost, if any;

on a sample basis, checked the accuracy of
contract sum to signed contract and/or other
relevant correspondences (and variation
orders, if any) and the project’s forecast costs
(such as subconsultancy fees and labour costs)
to supporting documents including but not
limited to invoices, price quotation and rate of

labour costs;

inspected, on a sample basis, underlying
documents in respect of actual costs incurred
to year end and compared, on a sample basis,
the project’s cost component of the actual cost
incurred up to year end to the forecast cost
and obtained explanation from management

for any variation;

BT R EEE BB 0N BTERE
HROR - DA 18 SR B e R TR T B AR
ANBE (W)

BT A EMBERI RGN EER
SEMARGEK(REEE (NA) K ERIER
WE IR B R Z XFFE X (405 B

BREBRA)  BEETRARE HRER
BEPAE

g A REEBEX R FEELENELR
A WARGE S AL RBEREBEFRE
ENEBRKAERBKANKAED » L5
TRAZERBEEREHA
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) BEETEH@
Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BREESER EENFITNMEERRENSE
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recalculated the amount of revenue
recognised for individual contracts, on a
sample basis, based on agreed contract sum
(plus recognised variation orders, if any), total

forecast costs and actual cost incurred; and

assessing the reliability of the approved
budgets by comparing the actual outcome
against management’s estimation of

completed contracts on a sample basis.

REHENEHSE (N LERABNEEE (1
B)  BERAREAREENBERKA - A
FAEFAEREM[ME OERN MRS
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the 2023 annual report
of the Company, but does not include the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the CO, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for

overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed
terms of engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

e  obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
e evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(continued))

conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that

we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our

independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.
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AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF B MM BEFREMBERRAENELT
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (#&)

(continued))

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we HMEBZLZEL/BBENZTET  EEHRTEZRE
determine those matters that were of most significance in the BHANPLEAEMBERENEFARAEES  AmE
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current FKREIEEFT B - ZEEXHE RSP IBMEE
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe  FIE ' RIEEFREZR T AT ARAEZELZTEIE -
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation SHEMKERLWBERAT @ MRS EBHES SR
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely &SR EBREEHERNEEERBRAEENAR
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be Fl& ' BERFENEERSH/BEBZEE -
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited HE (BB SAMEBAERAA
Certified Public Accountants R EE AT

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two EEER

28 Yun Ping Road i 97 /2

Causeway Bay B8 2855

Hong Kong SAR ME—H112

28 March 2024 —E-WE=ZA=-T/\H

Chi-Kit Shaw BB F £

Practising Certificate No.: P04834 HEFZBZHS - P04834
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEREMEZEHKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 BZE =T = =4

TZA=+T—BHLFE

2023 2022
—E-= S ——

Notes HK$'000 HK$'000

Bt E THERT FHET

(Restated)

(F&E75))

Revenue U 3 5 170,406 149,292

Cost of services AR#5 B A (110,056) (106,698)

Gross profit E A 60,350 42,594

Other income H b g A 6 3,931 6,083
Bargain purchase from business XBaHEERE

combination 30 1,265 -
Administrative expenses THEX (31,821) (26,935)
Provision of expected credit loss TEEEEEE ((BAHREEEE])

("ECL") B (527) (378)
Finance costs BhE AR 7 (242) (89)
Profit before income tax B FT 5 %% A28 R 8 32,956 21,275
Income tax expense FriS#i M X2 9 (4,727) (2,802)
Profit and total comprehensive income AAEEREEAEBLEER

for the year attributable to equity EAREENRAEE

holders of the Company 28,229 18,473

HK cents HK cents
B4l (L
Earnings per share attributable to equity AR TEZEIEE AEML

holders of the Company FRAEF
Basic and diluted EARR S 11 3.53 2.31
The notes on pages 114 to 203 are an integral part of these E114E 2038 2 IR ZE G5B HE 2

consolidated financial statements.

— &5 o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR LR

As at 31 December 2023 R =ZE ==

F+-A=+—H

2023 2022
—EB-=fF -
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
P 5 FET FTAT
(Restated)
(&&&E5)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEREE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - WE MRS 13 11,536 6,594
Deposits for acquisition of property, BEVE BER&E
plant and equipment MRS 16 = 200
Deferred tax assets RIETRIEE E 23 2,382 =
13,918 6,794
Current assets REBEE
Contract assets BEHNEE 17 29,903 24,232
Trade and other receivables B 5 NE M EIERIE 16 74,768 52,338
Tax recoverable A U Bl F 18 = 989
Time deposits with original maturity EEH B 238 318 A 1
over 3 months EHIFE R 18 = 56,816
Cash and bank balances BHeMBESEEY 18 67,547 79,169
172,218 213,544
Current liabilities REBAE
Contract liabilities AHEE 17 272 145
Provisions BE 19 1,888 2,091
Trade and other payables B 5 M E M EMFRIE 20 13,733 11,182
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 3,544 2,778
Amounts due to directors BN ESERE 22 5,163 11,350
Tax payable fE N 1518 1,214 -
25,814 27,546
Net current assets REBEEFE 146,404 185,998
Total assets less current liabilities HEERRBERE 160,322 192,792
Non-current liabilities EREBEE
Lease liabilities HEBE 21 4,503 1,027
Deferred tax liabilities REF I A & 23 = 5
Long service payment obligations REARTS & A e 24 2,722 1,846
7,225 2,924
Net assets BEFRE 153,097 189,868
EQUITY =
Share capital f% 7R 25 8,000 8,000
Reserves f# 26 145,097 181,868
Total equity RERBEE 153,097 189,868
Cheung Kwan Tar Ng Pak Hung
REHE RS
Director Director
EZE EZE

The notes on pages 114 to 203 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ANAREREARGAES
Share Capital Share Retained
capital reserve* premium* earnings* Total
LES X RORE* REBR st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FHEL FHEL FAL FHEL
(Note 25)  (Note 26(a))  (Note 26(b))
(M5E25)  (PitE26(a)  (BitsE26(b)

Balance at 1 January 2022 i Rl =P S 8,000 17,000 64,668 81,727 171,395
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREANEESE
income for the year (restated) (==71) - = = 18,473 18,473
Balance at 31 December 2022and R=T-_—F+-HA=+—H
1 January 2023 (restated) kZZE-_=F—H—B&&
(&E75) 8,000 17,000 64,668 100,200 189,868
Dividend declared (note 10) BERMR S (FizE10) - - - (65,000) (65,000)
Transactions with owners HEEALRS - - - (65,000) (65,000)
Profit and total comprehensive FRENREENSESE
income for the year = = = 28,229 28,229

Balance at 31 December 2023 R-E-_=%+-A=1+-H
e 8,000 17,000 64,668 63,429 153,097

& These reserves accounts comprise the Group's reserves of HK$145,097,000 (2022:  * ZERBRPERASENGSMBARRARTOEE
HK$181,868,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 145,097,000 7T (=& = = 4F : 181,868,000/ 7T) °

The notes on pages 114 to 203 are an integral part of these 1142203 E 2 FBKZZHLR M BREK L
consolidated financial statements. —#D e
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-= =z
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET
(Restated)
(geE7)
Cash flows from operating activities RERETHNRERE
Profit before income tax B P45 356 AT 4 7 32,956 21,275
Adjustments for: AEATRIA :
Bargain purchase from business XBEMHRERBE
combination 30 (1,265) —
Interest income T8 U A (3,114) (1,233)
Depreciation e 5,678 5,508
Long service payment obligations: RHEAAR 7% 2 A HE
— expenses recoghised in profit or loss —RERERIFHZ 614 1,754
ECL allowance on: NTEEZBRES
iR
— contract assets —EBRNEE 60 103
— trade receivables — 8 5 EWIE 467 275
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEEBGEREER 242 89
Operating profit before working capital EEBRSEPAKLEHET
changes 35,638 27,771
Increase in contract assets BHEEEM (5,728) (4,510)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 N E b e W kIR 12 0 (21,176) (7,840)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 N H b e FRIEE N 2,376 909
Increase in contract liabilities BHBEEN 127 11
(Decrease)/Increase in amounts FERTESEZIE G ) /1N
due to directors (6,187) 7,220
Decrease in provisions B R (244) (48)
Cash generated from operations LEMSHES 4,806 23,513
Income tax paid BT FTE R (2,519) (4,318)
Net cash generated from operating activities A &% B AT {73 & F 58 2,287 19,195
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—E-= ==
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FHET
(Restated)
(geE7)
Cash flows from investing activities REREZTHNRERE
Placements for time deposits FIEEHFER = (56,816)
Withdrawal of time deposits FEEUE HifF X 56,816 46,753
Acquisition of a subsidiary, net of cash WiE—RMEBRF]
acquired HBREWER S 30 (2,462) -
Purchase of property, plant and equipment & &Y% - iFE K& (2,228) (1,550)
Interest received B U F 2 3,114 1,233
Net cash generated from/(used in) REZBHR 7 (FTFA)
investing activities o FEE 55,240 (10,380)
Cash flows from financing activities KREMETDNRERE
Capital element of lease liabilities paid ENEEABZERES (3,907) (3,851)
Interest element of lease liabilities paid ENEEABZFERD (242) 89
Dividend paid BT IEE (65,000) =
Cash used in financing activities BB T T HE S (69,149) (3,940)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash WRERBEZEYW RL)
equivalents N5 (11,622) 4,875
Cash and cash equivalents at the FURERREEED
beginning of year 79,169 74,294
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of EREESRBESZEY
year, represented by cash and bank ERSRBITHEE
balances 18 67,547 79,169

The notes on pages 114 to 203 are an integral part of these S114E203E 2B ZSRAaMBRE 2
consolidated financial statements. —#n -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Boltek Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman
Islands under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on
18 April 2018. The Company'’s shares are listed on the GEM
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 13 September 2018. The addresses of its
registered office and principal place of business is Windward
3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand Cayman KY1-
1108, Cayman Islands and 5/F, Winning Commercial Building,
46-48 Hillwood Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong,

respectively.

The Company, which is an investment holding company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred as the "Group”)
are principally engaged in provision of engineering design,
landscape architecture and consultancy services in Hong Kong

and investment holding.

The Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is
Waywin Investment Holding Limited (“Waywin Investment”),
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI").
The ultimate controlling shareholder of the Group is Mr.

Cheung Kwan Tar (“Controlling Shareholder”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 were approved for issue by the board of
directors on 28 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING 2. EXEHBEME
POLICIES

2.1 Basis of presentation

21 RBEEE

These annual consolidated financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term
includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and the
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply with
the applicable disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO") and the applicable
disclosure requirements of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
("GEM Listing Rules”).

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies have
been consistently applied to all the years presented,
unless otherwise stated. The adoption of new or
amended HKFRSs and the impacts on the Group's

financial statements, if any, are disclosed in Note 3.

The consolidated financial statements have been

prepared under the historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$" or “HKD"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries,
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
(HK$'000), except where otherwise indicated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (continued)

It should be noted that accounting estimates and
assumptions are used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements. Although these estimates are based
on management's best knowledge and judgement of
current events and actions, actual results may ultimately
differ from those estimates. The areas involving a
higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the

consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries made up

to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the

Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements from
the date it gains control until the date when the Group

ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between the members of
the Group are eliminated in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Amounts reported in the financial
statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where
necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting

policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Basis of consolidation (continued)

2. TESTBRBE S

2.2 EEE(E)

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling interests within consolidated
equity to reflect the change in relative interests, but no
adjustments are made to goodwill and no gain or loss is

recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit
or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between
(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
received and the fair value of any retained interest and
(i) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including
goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-

controlling interests.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
subsidiary is carried at cost less any impairment loss
unless the subsidiary is held for sale or included in a
disposal group. Cost also includes direct attributable

costs of investment.

The result of subsidiary is accounted for by the Company
on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the
reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the
investee's pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company’s profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Acquisition of subsidiaries

23 WERBLF

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets include an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired
process is considered substantive if it is critical to the
ability to continue producing outputs, and the inputs
acquired include an organised workforce with necessary
skills, knowledge, or experience to perform that process
or it significantly contributes to the ability to continue
producing outputs and is considered unique or scarce
or cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or

delay in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with
limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values

at the acquisition date.

Consideration transferred as part of a business
combination does not include amounts related to the
settlement of pre-existing relationships. The gain or
loss on the settlement of any pre-existing relationship is

recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

23 WEMEAR (&)

Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value
of the acquirer’s previously held equity in the acquiree
(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-
date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests
in the acquiree and the fair value on the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as bargain

purchase gain.

Where the consideration the Group transferred in
a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement,
the contingent consideration is measured at its
acquisition-date fair value and considered as part of the
consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding
adjustments being made against goodwill or gain on
bargain purchase. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the measurement period about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date.
Measurement period does not exceed one year from the
acquisition date. The subsequent accounting for changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that do
not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends
on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not
subsequently remeasured and its subsequent settlement
is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration
classified as a financial liability is subsequently
remeasured at each reporting dates at fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3

2.4

Acquisition of subsidiaries (continued)

Business combinations (continued)

Changes in the value of the previously held equity
interest recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity before the acquisition date
are reclassified to profit or loss when the Group obtains

control over the acquiree.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional
amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), or additional
assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new
information obtained about facts and circumstances that
existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would

have affected the amounts recognised as of that date.

Joint arrangement

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the
parties that have joint control of the arrangement have
rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities,
relating to the joint arrangement. Joint control is
the contractually agreed sharing of control of an
arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require unanimous consent of the

parties sharing control.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interest in a joint operation in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular
assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZE=ZF =

=F+-A=+—HILFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Joint arrangement (continued)

2.5

When the Group's entity transacts with a joint operation
in which the Group’s entity is a joint operator (such as a
sale or contribution of assets), the Group is considered
to be conducting the transaction with the other parties
to the joint operation, and gains and losses resulting
from the transactions are recognised in the Group's
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of

the other parties’ interests in the joint operation.

When the Group's entity transacts with a joint operation
in which the Group's entity is a joint operator, the Group
does not recognise its share of the gains and losses until

it resells those assets to a third party.

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong Dollars (HK$), which is also the functional
currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statement of the consolidated
entities, foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency of the individual entity using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At the reporting date, monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the reporting
date retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are

recognised in profit or loss.

2.4

2.5

2. TESTBRBE S

BERE @)
EARBERESLEXRBETR S (I

HESEIABE) MAKEERRAE
a7 AKEREREGEXEBL
Hib & T ETRS FAXSMEL
ZEMEBEBRNRAEEZGRE MR

RER HEANEMBEITNEEER 2
B ABR o
EAEEERESEERETRISM
REEERAEAELEET  A&EET
eHREBRE2ANKLEE BEEE
EZBEETE=AAI-

IR E

A BmETILET GBT) 5HE -
BILTRARRBINEES -

REEEBNBLMBERERSD I
RPNIEXZEBNEXRBE R ES
ERMNIERR - B%I?ziEIH;ﬁ LMI\“%

EREHE - ,‘E%%A%x%&ﬁ Iﬁi
FHEFRENEBEERAERE
HERIMNER RN BR PR -

Annual Report ¢ 2023 121



Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

25

2.6

Foreign currency translation (continued)

Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange
rates at the transaction date). When a fair value gain or
loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or
loss, any exchange component of that gain or loss is
also recognised in profit or loss. When a fair value gain
or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other
comprehensive income, any exchange component of that
gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive

income.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment (other than cost of right-
of-use assets as described in Note 2.11) are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the asset. Depreciation commences

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of assets

less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,

using the straight-line method, at the following rates per

annum:

Leasehold improvements Over the term of
lease or 25%,

whichever is shorter

Furniture and fixtures 20%
Computer equipment 25%
Motor vehicles 25%

Accounting policy for depreciation of right-of-use assets

is set out in Note 2.11.

The assets’ residual values, depreciation methods and
useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in

profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
costs, such as repairs and maintenance are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

Financial instruments

Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual

provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all of its
risks and rewards are transferred. A financial liability
is derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged,

cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15,
all financial assets are initially measured at fair value, in
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit
or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction costs that are directly

attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Financial assets, other than those designated and
effective as hedging instruments, are classified into

amortised cost.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets
(continued)

The classification is determined by both:

—  the entity’s business model for managing the

financial asset; and

— the contractual cash flow characteristics of the

financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that
are recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs or other income, except for expected credit

losses ("ECL") of trade receivables.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are not
designated as FVTPL):

— they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and collect

its contractual cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in other income
in profit or loss. Discounting is omitted where the
effect of discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash
and bank balances and trade and other receivables
(excluding prepayments) fall into this category of financial

instruments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETEHESRE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Financial instruments (continued)

27 EWMI A (&)

Financial liabilities
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other

payables, lease liabilities and amounts due to directors.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are initially
measured at fair value, and, where applicable, adjusted
for transaction costs unless the Group designated a
financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method except for derivatives and
financial liabilities designated at FVTPL, which are carried
subsequently at fair value with gains or losses recognised

in profit or loss.

All interest-related charges are included in profit or loss.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out in Note
2.11.

Trade and other payables and amounts due to directors

Trade and other payables and amounts due to directors
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETEHESRE®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets and contract 28 tRBEEREGHNEERE

assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use more forward- BB WS RIE 95 AR E M TR
RAEARNBMHNERERRBEEE

B-IEHEEBEREREN] - BULHETE

looking information to recognise ECL — the "ECL model”.

Instruments within the scope included loans and other

debt-type financial assets measured at amortised cost,
trade receivables, contract assets recognised and
measured under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected

collectability of the future cash flows of the instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is

made between:

BMWZIE@%&%&%@ZZSJEZ
ERFEMEBREESREE

FEUW R MR IBE B Eﬂ&#&i/iﬁﬂ"k
ISSRETENANEE

REFBEERR LA ERBESEEE
B AREZEEEREZNER B
BEFEH BRARARAZEFHA
TARKBESREFERATKEEZH
BIRA TR

R IER B - A H T AR E A
E5 -

—  financial instruments that have not deteriorated — VIPHERUARHEEEESKELE
ERRLELHARKEERRNE
MTE(E—MRER]): &

significantly in credit quality since initial recognition

or that have low credit risk (“Stage 1”); and

— financial instruments that have deteriorated — VIPHRBUAREEELESRAS
ARICEAEEERRNMEAE
TE(TE=MBER]) -

significantly in credit quality since initial recognition

and whose credit risk is not low (“Stage 2").
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets and contract

28 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)
“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have objective

evidence of impairment at the reporting date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1 category
while “lifetime ECL"” are recognised for the Stage 2

category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life

of the financial instrument.

Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL at
each reporting date. These are the expected shortfalls
in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for
default at any point during the life of the financial assets.
In calculating the ECL, the Group has established a
provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience and external indicators, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract assets
relate to unbilled work in progress and have substantially
the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for
the same types of contracts. The Group has therefore
concluded that the ECL rates for trade receivables are
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the

contract assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets and contract

28 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk of

default occurring since initial recognition.

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial assets
at the reporting date with the risk of default occurring
on the financial assets at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable
and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly:

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

—  significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESTHEEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.8 Impairment of financial assets and contract

28 TRMEERGNEERE#E)

assets (continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

(continued)

—  existing or forecast adverse changes in regulatory,
business, financial, economic conditions, or
technological environment that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to

meet its debt obligations; and

—  an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 60 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the end of each
reporting period. A debt instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if it has a low risk of default, the
borrower has strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and adverse changes
in economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the

borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial assets

measured at amortised cost are set out in Note 31.3.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment (including right-of-
use assets) and the Company’s interest in a subsidiary
are subject to impairment testing. They are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the

asset’s carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. Recoverable
amount is the higher of fair value, reflecting market
conditions less costs of disposal, and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessment of time value

of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
from those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating
unit). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit

level.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units
is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating
unit, except that the carrying value of an asset will not
be reduced below its individual fair value less cost of

disposal, or value in use, if determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount and only to the extent
that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of

depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

2.11

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and
in hand and demand deposits with banks with original
maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are

subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Leases

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers whether
a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease is defined as
a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right
to use an identified asset (the underlying asset) for a
period of time in exchange for consideration. To apply
this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract

meets three key evaluations which are whether:

—  the contract contains an identified asset, which is
either explicitly identified in the contract or implicitly
specified by being identified at the time the asset is
made available to the Group;

—  the Group has the right to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from use of the identified
asset throughout the period of use, considering its

rights within the defined scope of the contract; and

—  the Group has the right to direct the use of the
identified asset throughout the period of use. The
Group assess whether it has the right to direct ‘how
and for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout

the period of use.

For contracts that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease and non-lease component on the basis of their

relative stand-alone prices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

211 HE#E)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the consolidated
statement of financial position. The right-of-use asset
is measured at cost, which is made up of the initial
measurement of the lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset at the end
of the lease, and any lease payments made in advance
of the lease commencement date (net of any lease

incentives received).

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement date
to the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-
use asset or the end of the lease term unless the Group
is reasonably certain to obtain ownership at the end of
the lease term. The Group also assesses the right-of-use

asset for impairment when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures the
lease liability at the present value of the lease payments
unpaid at that date, discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily

determined, the Group's incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the
lease liability are made up of fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable payments based on an index or rate,
and amounts expected to be payable under a residual
value guarantee. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to
be exercised by the Group and payment of penalties for
terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the Group

exercising the option to terminate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)
2.11 Leases (continued)

211 HE#E)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(continued)

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will be
reduced for lease payments made and increased for
interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured to
reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or if there
are changes in in-substance fixed payments. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as expense in the period on which the

event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit
and loss if the right-of-use asset is already reduced to

zero.

On the consolidated statement of financial position,
right-of-used assets have been included in “property,
plant and equipment”, the same line as it presents the

underlying assets of the same nature that it owns.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments
to fair value at initial recognition are considered as
additional lease payments and included in the cost of

right-of-use assets.
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME®)
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Provisions 2.12 B15

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past
event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can
be made. Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the

expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and

adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.

An onerous contract exists when the Group has a
contract under which the unavoidable costs of meeting
the obligations under the contract exceed the economic
benefits expected to be received from the contract.
Provisions for onerous contracts are measured at the
present value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of continuing
with the contract (which includes both incremental costs
and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to

fulfilling that contract).

2.13 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have
been issued. Any transaction costs associated with the
issuing of shares (net of any related income tax benefit)
are deducted from share premium to the extent they
are incremental cost directly attributable to the equity

transaction.

134 Annual Report ¢ 2023

AR EEBEEFMAAERE R
EXMEEE METZEEKAR
RS RSB EIRING - SR St
EXRkeRH  ABIAEHBE 58
ZEBEEDNBEXN  ABERET
ZEERA TR ZRETRE -

PRERERE®RE B HAELRSILIE
H B IA R S R 2 A=A -

EAKERENANBEEMEELENT
AR ABERERAZA WIS
RENz - R AFEEBERN - BE
BRBEBEER LA TEIR AR &
BANHRAFER (BREERA R E
BITE MW EZABANEMKARDE) M
HEZBEEZREE -

2.13 R

TR B AR RAKEETK
MHHEEE - WXBIRAREEE
EREZSHIEERAR - HETRH
MR E IR 5 A AN (FOER R AT AE A P
SHN ) 8B EETHE



Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR]
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition

214 B2

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.
Specifically, the Group uses a 5-step approach to revenue

recognition:

Step 1:  Identify the contract(s) with a customer

Step 2:  Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

Step 3:  Determine the transaction price

Step4: Allocate the transaction price to the

performance obligations in the contract

Step 5:  Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular

performance obligation is transferred to customers.

Control of the asset may be transferred over time or at a

point in time. Control of the asset is transferred over time

if:

(i)  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group's performance
as the Group performs;

(i) the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset (for example work in progress) that
the customer controls as the asset is created or

enhanced; or
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

(iii)

the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance

completed to date.

If the control of the asset transfers over time, revenue

is recognised over the period of the contract by

reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction

of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is

recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains

control of the asset.

(a)

Engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy service

Revenue from engineering design, landscape
architecture, and consultancy service contracts is
recognised progressively based on the contract
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total
forecast costs to depict the transfer of control
of the goods or services to the customer. The
Group recognises revenue over time only if it can
reasonably measure its progress toward complete

satisfaction of the performance obligation.

Incremental cost of obtaining a contract is
capitalised if the Group expects to recover those
costs, unless the amortisation period for such costs
would be one year or less. Costs that will be incurred
regardless of whether the contract is obtained are

expensed as they are incurred.

The Group presents a contract liability or a contract
asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position when either party to the contract has
performed. The Group performs by transferring
goods or services to the customer, and the customer
performs by paying consideration to the Group. Any
unconditional rights to consideration are presented

separately as “Trade and other receivables”.
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Boltek Holdings Limited ® B (#EARBRAR] \
i

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Revenue recognition (continued)

(a) Engineering design, landscape architecture and
consultancy service (continued)
Contract liabilities are obligations to transfer goods
or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration, or for which an amount of

consideration is due from the customer.

Contract assets are rights to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group
has transferred to a customer when that right is
conditional on something other than the passage of

time.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

Other service revenue are recognised in the period

when services are rendered.

(b) Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion
basis using the effective interest method. For
financial assets measured at amortised cost that
are not credit-impaired, the effective interest rate is

applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset.

2.15 Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, which it is intended to

compensate, are expensed.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Employee benefits

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through

defined contribution plans. In addition, the employees

employed under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

are also entitled to long service payment (“LSP") if the

eligibility criteria are met. The LSP are defined benefits

plans.

(a)

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Schemes Ordinance, for
all of its employees who are eligible to participate
in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based
on 5% (2022: 5%) of the employee’s basic salaries
with a cap of HK$1,500 per month. The assets of the
plan are held separately from those of the Group, in

funds under the control of trustees.

Contributions are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as employees render services during
the year. The Group's obligations under these plans
are limited to the fixed percentage contributions
payable.
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Boltek Holdings Limited © E1EMAR AR ‘\
=

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBEME®)

POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits (continued) 216 BEEA (&)
Retirement benefits (continued) EBIRER (&)

(b) Defined benefit plans (b) REEFEZ

The amount of long service benefit that an
employee will receive on cessation of employment
in certain circumstances is defined by reference to
the employee’s length of service and corresponding
salary. The legal obligations for any benefits remain

with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position is the present value
of the LSP obligation at the end of the reporting
period.

Management estimates the LSP obligations annually.
This is based on the discount rate, the salary growth
rate, turnover rate and the expected investment
return on offsetable MPF accrued benefits. Discount
factors are determined close to the end of each
annual reporting period by reference to government
bonds that are denominated in the currency in which
the benefits will be paid and have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related defined
benefit liability.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as follows:

o service cost (including current and past
service cost, and gains and losses on

curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and

L remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group's defined benefit plan is
included in employee benefits expense. Employee
contributions, all of which are independent of
the number of years of service, are treated as a

reduction of service cost.

BEEETERATRILEERER
B #5215 B0 &= B AR %5 48 I SRR TS
S2ERENREFRMAERNH
BETRTE AKEDAELM
BREPEEERR

BIARPEIZNRARE SR
BREMRBSEHFRESHR
R IR(E

EEEFFEFRARG SR -
BT EMRBERE - FHFEERE
mBERARERERS RE RS
MR ER R - BRREZTIR
RIIBEFERERRSERF
BREE MBRFEFAINRE
MR E%EE - B2 EHR
HERRERN A ERHIRAES

REBRIRASBEMT -

o BRBRA (BIEYHRIBE
B 75 9 25 A T 1 . 4 4
Yok R 18

o FHEBTHMA K

. EHHE-

74 o [ 5 52 78 I 5t 81 0 PR 75 A

HABTIERBS - 8 THRE

AR5 SRR E R - AR B IR TS X
REVRIA ©

Annual Report ¢ 2023 139



Boltek Holdings Limited o = E#ZA% AR A A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEFBEBE @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.16 Employee benefits (continued) 216 BEEA (&)
Retirement benefits (continued) BIREF (&)
(b) Defined benefit plans (continued) (b) FREEFEE (&)
Net interest expense on the net defined benefit FARAERNEERFHNERZE
liability is included in employee benefits expenses. ABIRAMAX °
Gains and losses resulting from remeasurements BN EFAERNEBEEELAD
of the net defined benefit liability, comprising Was & EE (B EREE R RER)
actuarial gains and losses, are included in other AR MEENKE  BREES
comprehensive income and are not reclassified to M mEN S EEIER o

profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Short-term employee benefits EHEEREF

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised EEERGSHNFRNEAZHRKER -
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made HEHREAH EERRHKREMA
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of EEFRNMGETRESFRE -

services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick ABRRERSEHZBHEBRARE S
leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the THER °

time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETHEBER)
POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes

217 RSB E R EE

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to the
fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable
profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or
liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense

in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and their respective tax
bases. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised
for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other
unused tax credits, to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit, including existing taxable temporary
differences, will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax

credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither taxable nor accounting profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary

differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to control
the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse

in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEFBEBE @)

POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 217 RSB ST EE (&)
Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax EERIBDIZTBHRNEEAGEREIR
rates that are expected to apply in the period the liability BENREANBRETE (TEFRR) -
is settled or the asset realised, provided they are enacted EEBETRERRERBRERE Bk
or substantively enacted at the reporting date. BB ERMAEHEK o
Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are ELEHBEENBBEEHNERPH®
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive A D e G =Ny
income or directly in equity if they relate to items that are mHRETARNIEE B - BIREM
charged or credited to other comprehensive income or PE R S E RN SRR o

directly in equity.

When different tax rates apply to different levels of E A FERR TR M ER A AR B R
taxable profit, deferred tax assets and liabilities are FREFREEENMBERAEHRE A
measured using the average tax rates that are expected MR = R R F A 2 ERT
to apply to the taxable profit of the periods in which the A BT EET R o

temporary differences are expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires an EBEEVFAREAMGTONREERZE
estimation of (i) when the existing temporary differences H A% T B B K (i) 5% & 6 2 R R E R
will reverse and (i) the amount of future taxable profit FRF SR o KRR EARB a A b2
in those years. The estimate of future taxable profit

includes:

—  profit or loss excluding reversals of temporary — TEEREEREE 2B

differences; and

—  reversals of existing temporary differences. - BEORBERER-

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented BNEAFI I & EE A AT B B EER I

in net if, and only if, TERAEEZT -

(@) the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off (@) AKBMIEE & HIFN1TH A LA
the recognised amounts; and EEREELE &

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise b) FrEICFEEELE KRR
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. BEIREEARE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. TESTBRBE S
POLICIES (continued)
2.17 Accounting for income taxes (continued) 217 FAIBBINEHER (&)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax AEEERUTERFEZIRTE

liabilities in net if, and only if, MIEE ERELERIERE

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off (@) ZERBEEFREIFAITER LS
current tax assets against current tax liabilities; and BEAR I E EE A AR IBE A ES

8 &

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax b) BEEMREEEHREHEARGRE
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same B 70 [R] — 250 75 4% B L LA T fa] —
taxation authority on either: B PSR
(i)  the same taxable entity; or (i) F—FERREE: X
(i) different taxable entities which intend either (i) FrEINSARKREME (MERE

to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a BB NS K E R
net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the HERRERIBEEEHREE) U
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period FRHEALEGEENABIEAE
in which significant amounts of deferred tax HEENRREREERE
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled EEENTRERTES -

or recovered.

2.18 Segment reporting 2.18 2 EB¥R &
The Group identifies operating segments and prepares AEERBEHMEFERERRESR
segment information based on the regular internal BABERERAEEEBAXET D H
financial information reported to the chief operating BIR 9 BLAE LR TE KA 5t 5% 55 A A B
decision maker for their decisions about resources AHERBEN AT EEREELE D
allocation to the Group's business components and for HRERSEER

their review of the performance of those components.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P mRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Related parties
For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to the
Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel

of the Group or of a parent of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the

same group.

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of
a member of a group of which the other entity

is a member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of

the same third party.
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity

and the other entity is an associate of the third

entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBRRHE

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEEFBEBE @)
POLICIES (continued)
2.19 Related parties (continued) 2.19 BB 5 (&)
(b) (continued) ) (#&)
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for Vv ZEEBEBEASENEREE .
the benefit of employees of either the Group or FHRENERRESNR
an entity related to the Group. S BERIR RN ET & o
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZERBH—EZRE@IEHHA
person identified in (a). T’H"%HZ LAl o
(vi) a person identified in (a) (i) has significant (i) R@OIEBEM A LTEHZE R
influence over the entity or is a member of the ﬁéﬁgi&j@t’j ZEB (E\EZ
key management personnel of the entity (or of BERNBRAFDNEEZER
a parent of the entity). B8 e
(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it (vii) —EE R EEAMEENE
is a part, provides key management personnel REBAKE  MASESE
services to the Group or to the parent of the AEENERREHFEE
Group. B AB R
Close family members of an individual are those family BERALTHEEREKEEEZE R
members who may be expected to influence, or be RGBHEBMAZEZERNATHZZ
influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the BRI ALRHENREKE -

entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZ T _=F+_A=+—HIEFE
3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND AMENDED HKFRSs

New and amended HKFRSs that are effective for
annual periods beginning on 1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the
following new and amended HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA,
which are relevant to the Group's operations and effective for
the Group's consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts and related
amendments
Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
and HKFRS Practice Policies
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar
Two Model Rules

The adoption of the new and amended HKFRSs had no
material impact on how the results and financial position
for the current and prior periods have been prepared and

presented.
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